
Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 11 November 2020 

 
 

 
                              

Meeting: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
Date: WEDNESDAY, 11 NOVEMBER 2020 
Time: 2.00 PM 
Venue: MICROSOFT TEAMS - REMOTE 

(Click here) 
To: Councillors J Cattanach (Chair), J Mackman (Vice-Chair), 

M Topping, K Ellis, I Chilvers, R Packham, P Welch, 
D Mackay and S Shaw-Wright 

 
 

Agenda 
1.   Apologies for Absence  

 
2.  Disclosures of Interest  

 
 A copy of the Register of Interest for each Selby District Councillor is available 

for inspection at www.selby.gov.uk. 
 
Councillors should declare to the meeting any disclosable pecuniary interest in 
any item of business on this agenda which is not already entered in their 
Register of Interests. 
 
Councillors should leave the meeting and take no part in the consideration, 
discussion or vote on any matter in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 
 
Councillors should also declare any other interests. Having made the 
declaration, provided the other interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest, 
the Councillor may stay in the meeting, speak and vote on that item of 
business. 
 
If in doubt, Councillors are advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer. 
 

3.   Chair's Address to the Planning Committee  
 

4.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 
held on 28 October 2020. 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/3S8Cf3fJkKs
http://www.selby.gov.uk/


Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 11 November 2020 

5.   Planning Applications Received (Pages 13 - 14) 
 

 5.1.   2019/0639/COU - Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield, Selby 
(Pages 15 - 28) 
 

 5.2.   2019/0945/FUL - Grove Farm, Sweeming Lane, Little Fenton, Leeds 
(Pages 29 - 52) 
 

 5.3.   2019/1216/COU - Land Off Westfield Lane, Thorganby (Pages 53 - 
76) 
 

 5.4.   2020/0773/FUL - 15 Cochrane Street, Selby (Pages 77 - 92) 
 

 5.5.   2020/0549/S73 - Fields Garden Centre, Tadcaster Road, Sherburn 
In Elmet, Leeds (Pages 93 - 110) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Janet Waggott, Chief Executive 
 

Dates of next meeting (2.00pm) 
Wednesday, 25 November 2020 

 
Enquiries relating to this agenda, please contact Victoria Foreman on 01757 292046 
or vforeman@selby.gov.uk. 
 
Live Streaming 
 
This meeting will be streamed live online. To watch the meeting when it takes place, 
click here. 
 
Recording at Council Meetings 
 
Selby District Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its 
democratic process. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the 
meeting should inform Democratic Services of their intentions prior to the meeting by 
emailing democraticservices@selby.gov.uk  

https://youtu.be/3S8Cf3fJkKs
mailto:democraticservices@selby.gov.uk


Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

 
 

Minutes                                   

Planning Committee 
 

Venue: Microsoft Teams - Remote 
Date: Wednesday, 28 October 2020 
Time: 2.00 pm 
 
 
Present remotely via 
Teams: 

Councillor J Cattanach in the Chair 
 
Councillors J Mackman (Vice-Chair), K Ellis, I Chilvers, 
R Packham, P Welch, D Mackay and S Shaw-Wright 
 

Officers Present 
remotely via Teams: 

Martin Grainger – Head of Planning, Ruth Hardingham – 
Planning Development Manager, Glenn Sharpe – Solicitor, 
Gareth Stent – Principal Planning Officer, Jenny Tyreman – 
Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Leggott – Senior 
Planning Officer, Victoria Foreman – Democratic Services 
Officer  
 

 
36 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor M Topping. Councillor T 

Grogan was in attendance as a substitute for Councillor Topping. 
 

37 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 
 

 Councillors J Cattanach, J Mackman, K Ellis, R Packham and S Shaw-Wright 
declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 5.3 – 2020/0828/S73 – 
Quarry Drop, Westfield Lane, South Milford, Leeds as they had received a 
number of additional representations in relation to the application. 
 
Councillor T Grogan declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 5.3 – 
2020/0828/S73 – Quarry Drop, Westfield Lane, South Milford, Leeds as he too 
had received additional representations in relation to the application, including 
a phone call with the applicant’s wife and with neighbours objecting to the 
scheme. He also declared that he was the Ward Member for South Milford and 
a member of South Milford Parish Council. He confirmed that when the Parish 
Council had discussed the application, he had taken no part in the debate, and 
had come to the meeting of the Planning Committee with an open mind and 
with no predetermination in relation to the scheme. 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

38 CHAIR'S ADDRESS TO THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 The Committee noted that an Officer Update Note had been circulated and 
that the order of business on the agenda had been amended by the Chair so 
that agenda item 5.4 -2017/0872/FUL – Land at Wharfe Bank, Tadcaster 
would be considered first.  
 
Members also noted that details of any further representations received on the 
applications would be given by the Officers in their presentations. 
 
Lastly, the Chair announced that public speaking had been reintroduced at 
Planning Committee and that this was the second meeting at which it would 
take place remotely. 
 

39 MINUTES 
 

 The Committee considered the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 
held on 7 October 2020. 
 
RESOLVED: 

To approve the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 
held on 7 October 2020 for signing by the Chairman, subject 
to the following amendments: 
 
a) minute item 35.1 – that the resolution be amended to 

read as follows: 
 
RESOLVED: 

Minded to GRANT the application subject to the 
conditions set out at paragraph 7 of the report 
and the Officer Update Note, and to the 
agreement of access arrangements to Little 
Black Dog Brewery. 

 
b) minute item 32 – that the disclosure of interest for 

Councillors J Cattanach, J Mackman and I Chilvers be 
amended to read as follows: 
 

Councillors J Cattanach, J Mackman and I Chilvers declared 
a personal interest in agenda item 5.2 – Model Farm, Broad 
Lane, Cawood as they were all members of the Selby Area 
Internal Drainage Board and as such would leave the 
meeting and not take any part in the debate for this item. 
 

40 PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 
 

 The Planning Committee considered the following planning applications: 
 
 
 

Page 2



Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

 40.1 2017/0872/FUL - LAND AT WHARFE BANK, TADCASTER 
 

  Councillors P Welch and D Mackay joined the meeting at 
this point. 
 
Application: 2017/0872/FUL 
Location: Land at Wharfedale Bank, Tadcaster 
Proposal: Proposed installation of a recreational raised 
seating area over the existing temporary bridge 
foundation to be retained 

 
The Planning Development Manager introduced the 
application for the proposed installation of a recreational 
raised seating area over the existing temporary bridge 
foundation to be retained. 
 
The Committee noted that a request that the item be 
deferred had been received from the applicant due to the 
report’s recommendation that permission be refused. 
Members were asked to decide if they wished to agree 
deferral of the application to a later meeting.  
 
It was proposed and seconded that consideration of the 
application be deferred; a vote was taken on the proposal 
and was carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 

To DEFER consideration of the 
application to a later meeting. 

 

 

 40.2 2018/1214/HPA - WATERSIDE PARK, OAKWOOD PARK, 
MARKET WEIGHTON ROAD, NORTH DUFFIELD 
 

  Application: 2018/1214/HPA 
Location: Waterside Park, Oakwood Park, Market 
Weighton Road, North Duffield 
Proposal: Application for the erection of a detached 
games room, detached garage and extension to an 
integral "granny flat" annexe (Retrospective) 

 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the application 
which had been brought before Planning Committee as it 
had been requested by former Councillor J Deans in 
2018, who considered Members should wish to consider 
whether the application was a gross overdevelopment of 
the site, contrary to the Development Plan, constituted 
inappropriate development outside of the development 
limits and had a detrimental impact on the openness of 
the countryside. 
 

 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

The Committee noted that the application was for a 
retrospective erection of a detached games room, 
detached garage and extension to an integral "granny 
flat" annexe. 
 
Councillor I Chilvers joined the meeting at this point, but 
as part of the presentation had been missed by him, he 
could not take part in the debate or decision on the item.  
 
An Officer Update Note had been circulated to the 
Committee which set out corrections to the history 
section of the report, and an amendment to paragraph 
5.29 of the report regarding the impact of the games 
room on the amenities of neighbouring residential 
properties.  

 
Jennifer Hubbard, agent, was invited remotely into the 
meeting and spoke in support of the application. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and agreed 
that the scheme should be granted.  
 
It was proposed and seconded that the application be 
granted subject to conditions; a vote was taken on the 
proposal and was carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 

To GRANT the application subject to the 
conditions set out at paragraph 7 of the 
report. 

 
 40.3 2019/1216/COU - LAND OFF WESTFIELD LANE, THORGANBY, 

YORK 
 

  Application: 2019/1216/COU 
Location: Land Off Westfield Lane, Thorganby, York 
Proposal: Change of use of land to form a 12-pitch 
touring caravan site including the siting of shower and 
toilet facilities, new internal access track and associated 
works 

 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the application 
which had been brought before Planning Committee as 
directed by the Head of Planning, due to the sensitive 
consideration of the level of objection. 
 
The Committee noted that the application was for the 
change of use of land to form a 12-pitch touring caravan 
site including the siting of shower and toilet facilities, new 
internal access track and associated works. 

 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

 
Councillor K Ellis left the meeting at this point but 
returned shortly.   
 
An Officer Update Note had been circulated to the 
Committee which set out an amendment to Condition 10 
and details of additional information provided by the 
applicant which included reviews for the existing 
campsite. The additional information was not considered 
by Officers to alter the assessment made.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer informed Members that 
Thorganby Parish Council had been in contact to raise a 
concern that they had not been notified that the 
application was to be considered at the meeting of the 
Planning Committee on 28 October 2020, and that had 
they been, they would have registered to speak.  
 
The Chair asked for clarification from the Solicitor who 
stated that, as far as Officers were aware, there had 
been no fault in the notification processes, but that it was 
for Members to decide whether the application should 
continue to be considered, or deferred. The Committee 
also noted that there was a responsibility of the Council 
to the applicant to process the application in a timely 
manner. 
 
Members discussed the matter and agreed that the 
application should be deferred until a later date to ensure 
that all contributors had been notified. It was proposed 
and seconded that the application be deferred for 
consideration at a later meeting; a vote was taken on the 
proposal and was carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 

To DEFER the application for 
consideration at a later meeting.  

 
 40.4 2020/0828/S73 - QUARRY DROP, WESTFIELD LANE, SOUTH 

MILFORD, LEEDS 
 

  Application: 2020/0828/S73 
Location: Quarry Drop, Westfield Lane, South Milford, 
Leeds 
Proposal: Section 73 application to vary condition 04 
(approved plans) of planning permission 2010/0507/FUL 
for construction of a five-bedroom, three storey detached 
house 

 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the application 

 

Page 5



Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

which had been brought before Planning Committee 
following consideration at the meeting on 23 September 
2020, where Members had resolved to defer the 
application in order for Officers to gather further visual 
information. 
 
The Committee noted that the application was a Section 
73 application to vary condition 04 (approved plans) of 
planning permission 2010/0507/FUL for construction of a 
five-bedroom, three storey detached house. 
 
An Officer Update Note had been circulated to the 
Committee which set out several points, including the 
details of five additional letters of representation that had 
been received. The additional representations had been 
fully considered by Officers but did not alter the Officer 
recommendation set out in the agenda, for the reasons 
set out in the report. Since the Officer’s report had been 
written, the applicant had submitted a ‘Statement to 
Planning Committee’, which had been circulated to 
Members and raised several matters. The objector 
registered to speak at the meeting had circulated his 
narrative to the Members ahead of the meeting as it 
included a number of photographs which could not be 
shown at the meeting. Lastly, the Committee noted that 
in relation to paragraph 5.33 of the report there was an 
update regarding boundary treatments.  
 
Members asked a number of questions of the Officer 
about the application regarding whether it was a minor 
material amendment, the classification as a Section 73 
application, origins of the letters of objection and support, 
non-compliance, enforcement action, ridge height and 
separation distance and the potential effect on the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties.  
 
Mr Steve Barker, objector, was invited remotely into the 
meeting and spoke against the application. 
 
The Committee discussed the application and offered 
differing opinions as to what decision should be taken. 
Some Members felt that the application should be 
refused, whilst others were of the opinion that, despite 
the several applications, appeals and issues that there 
had been on the site, the Committee needed to be 
mindful of the certificate of lawful development that gave 
permission for the building of a three storey, five 
bedroom house. Officers believed the amendments to 
the design of the dwelling under the current application 
would have an acceptable effect on the residential 

Page 6



Planning Committee 
Wednesday, 28 October 2020 

amenity of neighbouring properties.  
 
It was proposed and seconded that the recommendation 
in the report be amended to refuse permission for the 
application, due to the creation of the raised amenity 
area, extending the height of the house by 12.5ft, which 
would have a significant adverse impact on the character 
and appearance of the area and the residential amenity 
of neighbouring properties in terms of height and scale. A 
vote was taken on the proposal and was lost. 
 
It was proposed and seconded that the application be 
granted, subject to the conditions set out in the report; a 
vote was taken on the proposal and was carried. 
 
RESOLVED: 

To GRANT the application subject to the 
conditions set out at paragraph 7 of the 
report. 

 
The meeting closed at 3.41 pm. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Planning Committee – Remote Meetings 

Guidance on the conduct of business for planning applications and other 
planning proposals 

 
1. The reports are taken in the order of business on the agenda, unless varied 

by the Chairman. The Chairman may amend the order of business to take 
applications with people registered to speak, first, so that they are not waiting. 
If the order of business is going to be amended, the Chairman will announce 
this at the beginning of the meeting.  
 

2. There is usually an officer update note which updates the Committee on any 
developments relating to an application on the agenda between the 
publication of the agenda and the committee meeting. Copies of this update 
will be published on the Council’s website alongside the agenda.  
 

3. You can contact the Planning Committee members directly. All contact details 
of the committee members are available on the relevant pages of the 
Council’s website:  
 
https://democracy.selby.gov.uk/mgCommitteeMailingList.aspx?ID=135 
 

4. Each application will begin with the respective Planning Officer presenting the 
report including details about the location of the application, outlining the 
officer recommendations, giving an update on any additional representations 
that have been received and answering any queries raised by members of the 
committee on the content of the report.  
 

5. The next part is the remote public speaking process at the committee. The 
following may address the committee for not more than 5 minutes each, 
remotely:  

 
(a) The objector 
(b) A representative of the relevant parish council 
(c) A ward member 
(d) The applicant, agent or their representative. 

 
NOTE: Persons wishing to speak remotely on an application to be considered 
by the Planning Committee should have registered to speak with Democratic 
Service (contact details below) by no later than 3pm on the Monday before 
the Committee meeting (this will be amended to the Tuesday if the 
deadline falls on a bank holiday). They must also submit a copy of what 
they will be saying by the same deadline. This is so that if there are 
technical issues and speakers can’t access the meeting, their representation 
can be read out on their behalf (for the allotted five minutes). 

 
6. Persons wishing to speak will be able to access the meeting by joining the link 

to the Microsoft Teams meeting which will be supplied to them by Democratic 
Services. They will be admitted to a lobby where they will wait until they are 

Page 9

Annex

https://democracy.selby.gov.uk/mgCommitteeMailingList.aspx?ID=135


brought into the actual meeting when it is time to speak. Whilst waiting they 
can continue to watch the live stream of the meeting as it takes place via 
YouTube. 
 

7. Once they have been admitted to the meeting, they will be given the five 
minutes in which to make their representations, timed by Democratic 
Services. Once they have spoken, they will be asked to leave the meeting/will 
be removed from the meeting. The opportunity to speak is not an opportunity 
to take part in the debate of the committee. 
 

8. If there are technical issues and speakers are unable to access the meeting, 
their representation will be read out on their behalf for the allotted five 
minutes. 
 

9. Each speaker should restrict their comments to the relevant planning aspects 
of the proposal and should avoid repeating what has already been stated in 
the report. The meeting is not a hearing where all participants present 
evidence to be examined by other participants.  
 

10. The members of the committee will then debate the application, consider the 
recommendations and then make a decision on the application. 

 
11. The role of members of the planning committee is to make planning decisions 

openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons in 
accordance with the statutory planning framework and the Council’s planning 
code of conduct. 
 

12. For the committee to make a decision, the members of the committee must 
propose and second a proposal (e.g. approve, refuse etc.) with valid planning 
reasons and this will then be voted upon by the Committee. Sometimes the 
Committee may vote on two proposals if they have both been proposed and 
seconded (e.g. one to approve and one to refuse). The Chairman will ensure 
voting takes place on one proposal at a time.  
 

13. This is a council committee meeting which is viewable online as a remote 
meeting to the public. 
 

14. Selby District Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its 
democratic processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public 
parts of the meeting should inform Democratic Services of their intentions 
prior to the meeting on democraticservices@selby.gov.uk  
 

15. The arrangements at the meeting may be varied at the discretion of the 
Chairman.  

 
16. Written representations on planning applications can also be made in 

advance of the meeting and submitted to planningcomments@selby.gov.uk. 
All such representations will be made available for public inspection on the 
Council’s Planning Public Access System and/or be reported in summary to 
the Planning Committee prior to a decision being made. 
 

17. The Remote Meetings Regulations provide flexibility in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic, and allow meetings to be moved, called or cancelled without 

Page 10

mailto:democraticservices@selby.gov.uk
mailto:planningcomments@selby.gov.uk


further notice. For this reason, the public are encouraged to check the 
Council’s website in case changes have had to be made at short notice. If in 
doubt, please contact either the Planning Department on 
planningcomments@selby.gov.uk or Democratic Services on 
democraticservices@selby.gov.uk for clarification. 
 

18. A provisional Calendar of Meetings is operating, with Planning Committees 
usually sitting on a Wednesday every 4 weeks. However, this may change 
depending upon the volume of business as we emerge from lockdown. Please 
check the meetings calendar using this link for the most up to date meeting 
details: 
https://democracy.selby.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1  
 

19. To view the meeting online, find the relevant meeting from the list of 
forthcoming Remote Planning Committee meetings. The list of forthcoming 
meetings is here: 
https://democracy.selby.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=135 
 

Find the meeting date you want and click on it. This will take you to the 
specific meeting page. Under the section on the page called ‘Media’ is the link 
to view the online meeting – click on this link. 
 

20. Please note that the Meetings are streamed live to meet with the legal 
requirement to be “public” but are not being recorded as a matter of course for 
future viewing. In the event a meeting is being recorded the Chair will inform 
viewers. 
 

21. These procedures are being regularly reviewed as we start to operate in this 
way. 

 
Contact: Democratic Services  
Email: democraticservices@selby.gov.uk 

Page 11

mailto:planningcomments@selby.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@selby.gov.uk
https://democracy.selby.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.selby.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=135
mailto:democraticservices@selby.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Items for Planning Committee  
 

11 November 2020 
 
 

Item 
No. Ref Site Address Description Officer Pages 

5.1 

2019/0639/COU Holmewood, 
York Road, 

North Duffield, 
Selby 

 

Retrospective change of use of 
land from agricultural to garden 

for land adjoining the rear 
 

IRSI 15-28 

5.2 

2019/0945/FUL Grove Farm, 
Sweeming Lane, 

Little Fenton, 
Leeds 

 

Proposed conversion of single 
storey barn/stable block to use as 

a single storey dwelling 
 

CHFA 29-52 

5.3 

2019/1216/COU Land Off 
Westfield Lane, 

Thorganby 
 

Change of use of land to form a 
12-pitch touring caravan site 

including the siting of shower and 
toilet facilities, new internal 

access track and associated 
works 

 

RELE 53-76 

5.4 

2020/0773/FUL 15 Cochrane 
Street, 
Selby 

 

Change of use of a C3 dwelling 
house to a mixed use for a Class 
C3 dwelling house and Class E(f) 

childminding business 

 

RELE 77-92 

5.5 

2020/0549/S73 Fields Garden 
Centre, 

Tadcaster Road, 
Sherburn In Elmet, 

Leeds 
 

Section 73 application to vary 
condition 02 (opening hours) of 

approval 2019/0663/FUL 
Conversion of former glass house 

including recladding to provide 
extension to tea room extending 
covers to 66 in total, retention of 
terrace and its use as outdoor 
seating area/plant sales area, 

extension to existing car park to 
provide overflow and formation of 
children's play area granted on 16 

April 2020 
 

GAST 93-110 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Play Area

8.8m
Loro

Vine

House

Allonby

Braidley

Beech Lodge

Holmewood

Lilac House

Vine Cottage

Maran Ley

Corner Cottage

Penny Cottage

Apple Tree Cottage

Plum Tree Cottage

Mandale House
York Road Cottage

House

House

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 OS 100018656. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes 
for the period during which Selby District Council makes it available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties 
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS. 

±

1:1,250

APPLICATION SITE
Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield
2019/0639/COU

Page 15

Agenda Item 5.1



This page is intentionally left blank



Holmewood - Site Layout Plan - 2019/0639/COU (Agricultural to garden)

Plan Produced for: Andrew Ward

Date Produced: 26 Jun 2019

Plan Number/Project ID: TQRQM19177170458907

Scale: 1:500 @ A4

© Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2019 Licence number 0100042766

LAY02

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
Report Reference Number: 2019/0639/COU  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   Planning Committee 
Date:   11 November 2020 
Author:  Irma Sinkeviciene (Planning Officer) 
Lead Officer: Ruth Hardingham (Planning Development Manager) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPLICATION 
NUMBER: 

2019/0639/COU PARISH: North Duffield Parish 
Council 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Andrew Ward VALID DATE: 27th June 2019 
EXPIRY DATE: 22nd August 2019 

 
PROPOSAL: Retrospective change of use of land from agricultural to garden 

for land adjoining the rear 
 

LOCATION: Holmewood 
York Road 
North Duffield 
Selby 
North Yorkshire 
YO8 5RU 
 

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE 
 
This application has been brought before Planning Committee as 14 letters of 
representation have been received which raise material planning considerations and 
Officers would otherwise determine the application contrary to these representations. 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Site and Context 
 

1.1 The application site is located within the northern part of North Duffield village. The 
application site includes the existing bungalow with its existing curtilage and a 
parcel of land along the eastern boundary which is subject to this application. There 
is agricultural land to the north, east and south of the parcel of land in question, and 
the host property with its curtilage to the west of it.  

 

Page 19



1.2  It is noted that there are no detailed plans provided to show the proposed boundary 
treatments and given that the development already occurred without planning 
permission, the boundary treatments as proposed have therefore been identified by 
the Case Officer during site visit as retrospectively erected composite panels with 
concrete posts and base along north, east and south of the land in question, with 
arched timber trellis on top of composite panels along eastern boundary which has 
an overall height of approximately 1.8 metres. The application has therefore been 
assessed on this basis. 

 
1.3  The Case Officer noted from a site visit that a summer house is being erected within 

the parcel of land which is subject to this application. However, this feature does not 
form part of this application. 

 
1.4 It should be noted that an alternative solution attempted to be negotiated with the 

applicants, however they did not wish to amend the scheme and as such, the 
application is determined on the basis of the information as originally submitted.  

  
 The Proposal 
 
1.5 The application is for a change of use of a parcel of agricultural land adjacent to the 

east boundary of the curtilage of this dwelling to use as a private garden area. 
 
 Relevant Planning History 
 

The following historical application is considered to be relevant to the determination 
 of this application: 

 
1.6  Application Number CO/1982/01859 for the proposed extension to existing 

bungalow at Holmewood Bungalow, York Road, North Duffield was approved in 
May 1982. 

 
1.7  Application Number CO/1993/0271 for the demolition of existing outbuildings and 

erection of side extension to bungalow with double and single garage to the rear of 
Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield was approved in May 1993. 

 
1.8  Application Number: CO/2002/0540 for the proposed erection of a block of two 

stables and a store to the rear of Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield was 
refused in July 2002. 

 
1.9  Application Number CO/2002/1251 for the proposed erection of stables and 

haystore at Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield was approved in February 2003. 
 

1.10  Application Number 2019/1272/COU for the change of use of agricultural land to 
garden land to rear of Appletree Cottage, 2 York Road and Corner Cottage (part 
retrospective) was refused on 2 April 2020. 
 

1.11  Application Number 2019/1038/COU - Retrospective change of use of agricultural 
land to garden land adjoining the rear at Plum Tree Cottage, York Road, North 
Duffield is pending consideration. 

 
1.12  Application Number 2015/1025/OUT - Outline planning application for up to 65 

dwellings and a new community football pitch with parking, a changing 
room/clubhouse to include access (all other matters reserved) on land off York 
Road was refused in November 2015. 

Page 20



 
1.13  Application Number 2016/0644/OUT - Outline planning application for up to 57 

dwellings and a new community football pitch with parking, a changing 
room/clubhouse to include access (all other matters reserved) at land off York Road 
was refused in March 2017 due to the following reasons: 

 
01. The site lies outside the established development limits of North Duffield and 

due to its excessive size and position would not represent a natural rounding off 
or provide a new defensible boundaries. It would expand the settlement 
outwards, increasing the depth of built form at the edge of the village creating an 
additional large block of development encroaching into the rural open 
countryside location at the northern end of the village. It would create a harsh 
urban edge abutting the existing field track when viewed from the east due to the 
solid amount of housing and the lack of landscaping. Furthermore, it would leave 
an area of undeveloped land between the northern edge or the development and 
the proposed football pitch which would be subject to future pressure for infill 
development. The scheme would therefore result in a development which would 
have a significant and demonstrably harmful impact on the character, form and 
setting of the village contrary to the aims of Policies SP1, SP18 and SP19 of the 
SDCSLP, ENV 1 of the SDLP and with the NPPF. 

 
02. The proposal due to the scale, at approximately 57 dwellings, is not considered 

to be appropriate to the size and role of North Duffield, a settlement, which is 
designated a service Village in the Core Strategy. There are already extant 
approvals on smaller sites for a total of 59 dwellings and capacity for significant 
growth already therefore exists in the village. Continued expansion of North 
Duffield would undermine the spatial integrity of the development plan and the 
ability of the council to deliver a plan led approach. Therefore, the proposal 
would conflict with the Spatial Development Strategy for the District and the 
overall aim of the development plan to achieve sustainable patterns of growth. 
The proposal therefore is contrary to Policies ENV1 of the SDLP and Policies 
SP1, SP2, SP4, SP18 and SP19 of the SDCSLP and the NPPF. 

 
The application was subsequently refused at appeal on 26 February 2018 and Inspector 
assessed the impact on character and appearance of the area amongst other things as 
follows: 
 
36. However, the proposal would create a protrusion of built development beyond the 
defined development limits of the village and into the open countryside. The current rural 
appearance of the site would be lost with resultant urbanisation of this part of the rural 
landscape.  
 
37. In views from York Road the proposal would appear as a substantial and prominent 
spur of development that would extend beyond the present, clearly delineated settlement 
pattern of the village and which would erode the open character of this part of the 
landscape and the access to views beyond. The appearance and rural character of the 
area in both views from the road and the wider countryside would be unacceptably 
changed and a more suburban character would prevail.  
 
38. Overall, I consider that the proposed development would fail to conserve the open rural 
character of the landscape and would cause significant harm to the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area. As such, the proposed development would be 
contrary to Policies SP1, SP18 and SP19 of the Core Strategy and Saved Policy ENV1 of 
the Local Plan. These policies, amongst other things, seek to ensure that new 

Page 21



development does not compromise local distinctiveness, character or form and that a good 
quality of development is achieved that does not have an adverse effect on the character 
of an area. Furthermore, the proposals would also be contrary to one of the core principles 
of the Framework, as set out in paragraph 17, in terms of the protection of the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside. 
 
2. CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY 
 

All immediate neighbours were informed by letter, a site notice has been erected, 
an advert placed in the local press and statutory consultees notified. 

 
2.1 Parish Council - Made comments in support of the Planning Application. 
 
2.2  Neighbour Summary - All immediate neighbours were informed by letter and a site 

notice was posted on 9 July 2019. 14 letters of support have been received as a 
result of this advertisement.  

 
3 SITE CONSTRAINTS 
 
 Constraints 
 
3.1 The site is located partly within and partly outside the defined development limits of 

North Duffield. The dwelling with its curtilage is located within the development 
limits and the parcel of land which is subject to this application is located outside the 
defined development and is therefore defined as open countryside. The site does 
not contain any protected trees and there are no statutory or local landscape 
designations.  

 
4 POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states "if regard 

is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise". This is recognised in 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF, with paragraph 12 stating that the framework does not 
change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision making.  
 

4.2 The development plan for the Selby District comprises the Selby District Core 
Strategy Local Plan (adopted 22nd October 2013) and those policies in the Selby 
District Local Plan (adopted on 8 February 2005) which were saved by the direction 
of the Secretary of State and which have not been superseded by the Core 
Strategy. 

 
4.3 On 17 September 2019 the Council agreed to prepare a new Local Plan. The 

timetable set out in the updated Local Development Scheme envisages adoption of 
a new Local Plan in 2023. Consultation on issues and options would take place 
early in 2020. There are therefore no emerging policies at this stage so no weight 
can be attached to emerging local plan policies. 

 
4.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) (NPPF) replaced the July 

2018 NPPF, first published in March 2012.  The NPPF does not change the status 
of an up to date development plan and where a planning application conflicts with 
such a plan, permission should not usually be granted unless material 

Page 22



considerations indicate otherwise (paragraph 12).  This application has been 
considered against the 2019 NPPF. 

 
4.5 Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines the 
 implementation of the Framework - 
 
 “213….existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 

were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should 
be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).” 

 
 Selby District Core Strategy Local Plan 
 
4.6 The relevant Core Strategy Policies are: 
 

SP1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
SP2 - Spatial Development Strategy  
SP15 - Sustainable Development and Climate Change  
SP19 - Design Quality 

 
 Selby District Local Plan 
 
4.7  The relevant Selby District Local Plan Policies are: 
 

ENV1 - Control of Development  
H15 - Extensions to Curtilages in the Countryside    

 
5 APPRAISAL 
 
5.1 The main issues to be taken into account when assessing this application are: 
 

1) The Principle of the Development  
2) Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Open Countryside 
3) Impact on Residential Amenity  

 
The Principle of the Development 

 
5.2  Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy outlines that "when considering development 

proposals the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework", to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area, and sets out how this will be undertaken. The 
proposed development, due to the nature, scale, design and location, it is not 
considered that the development would improve the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in this area. 

 
5.3  Core Strategy Local Plan Policy SP2(c) states that "Development in the countryside 

(outside Development Limits) will be limited to the replacement or extension of 
existing buildings, the reuse of buildings preferably for employment purposes, and 
well-designed new buildings of an appropriate scale, which would contribute 
towards and improve the local economy and where it will enhance or maintain the 
vitality of rural communities, in accordance with Policy SP13; or meet rural 
affordable housing need (which meets the provisions of Policy SP10), or other 

Page 23



special circumstances." The change of use of agricultural land to garden land 
doesn’t fall within these exceptions. 

 
5.4  Policy SP15 (B) states that to ensure development contributes toward reducing 

carbon emissions and are resilient to the effect of climate change schemes should 
where necessary or appropriate meet 8 criteria set out within the policy. Whether it 
is necessary or appropriate to ensure that schemes comply with Policy SP15 (B) is 
a matter of fact and degree depending largely on the nature and scale of the 
proposed development. Having had regard to the nature and scale of the proposal, 
it is considered that its ability to contribute towards reducing carbon emissions, or 
scope to be resilient to the effects of climate change is so limited that it would not be 
necessary and, or appropriate to require the proposals to meet the requirements of 
criteria of SP15 (B) of the Core Strategy. Therefore, having had regard to Policy 
SP15 (B) it is considered that the proposal is acceptable. 

 
5.4  The application is seeking consent for the retrospective change of use of land from 

agricultural to residential garden area, which lies to the rear of the existing dwelling, 
namely Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield. In the light of the above policy 
context, the proposals to develop this land do not fall within any of the exception to 
and are therefore contrary to Policy SP2A(c) of the Core Strategy.  The proposal 
should therefore be refused unless material circumstances exist that would indicate 
otherwise. One such material consideration is the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the Policies of the Selby District Plan. 

 
5.5 Selby Local Plan Policy H15 allows garden extensions subject to criteria which are 

considered in the next section of this report. Although Selby District Local Plan 
precedes the NPPF, it should be afforded substantial weight as it is consistent with 
the NPPF, particularly paragraphs 127 & 170.  

 
Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Open Countryside 

 
5.5  The property is a detached bungalow in a row of residential properties to the east of 

York Road in North Duffield. The property is set within the Development Limits of 
North Duffield as defined by the Selby District Council Local Plan however the 
agricultural land, which is subject to this planning application, is outside the 
Development Limits and is therefore within the open countryside. Boundary 
treatments consist of those as described in the introduction section. The 
development is therefore subject to Policies H15 and ENV1 of the Selby District 
Local Plan and Policy SP19 of the Core Strategy. 

 
5.6  Policy SP19 requires that “Proposals for all new development will be expected to 

contribute to enhancing community cohesion by achieving high quality design and 
have regard to the local character, identity and context of its surroundings including 
historic townscapes, settlement patterns and the open countryside. Both residential 
and non-residential development should meet the following key requirements: 

 
a) Make the best, most efficient use of land without compromising local 

distinctiveness, character and form; 
 

b) Positively contribute to an area’s identity and heritage in terms of scale, density 
and layout. 

 
5.7  Selby District Local Plan Policy ENV1 (1) requires development to take account of 

the effect upon the character of the area, with ENV1 (4) requiring the standard of 

Page 24



layout, design and materials to respect the site and it surroundings. Local Plan 
Policy ENV1 is broadly consistent with the aims of the NPPF and should therefore 
be given significant weight.  

 
5.8  Policy H15 of the Selby District Local Plan specifies that proposals to extend the 

curtilage of properties outside defined Development Limits will only be permitted if 
there is no significant adverse effect on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding countryside, and the proposed means of enclosure would be 
appropriate to the adjoining countryside.  

 
5.9  In summary, all letters of support express that the development would not cause 

harm to the open countryside of the character and appearance of the village, and 
that it would provide privacy and safety to the applicants.  

 
5.10  It is noted that a number of other dwellings have also extended curtilage without 

planning permission. One of them, namely 2019/1272/COU was a collective 
application related to three properties which was refused. Another application for a 
garden extension within the locality is currently considered under application 
reference 2019/1038/COU. However, in determining this application, no favourable 
weight should be attributed to the fact that these other unauthorised developments 
have occurred. Moreover, this application must also be assessed as if it had not 
occurred already.  

 
5.11  There is a clear delineated settlement boundary to this part of North Duffield. The 

existing rear garden boundaries of properties on York Road form a consistent 
clearly defined straight boundary edge between the built development at the 
northern edge of the village and large open field and wider open countryside to the 
east running. The development limits for the village follow this defined boundary line 
with existing gardens being within the development limits and extended curtilages 
being outside development limits.    

 
5.12 The opportunity has been given for the applicants to amend the boundary details. 

Officers have tried to negotiate a more sympathetic approach to this edge of 
settlement location. Post and rail fencing with indigenous mixed field hedgerow 
planting would be more appropriate and form a softer edge to this prominent edge 
of settlement position. However, the applicants wish to retain the existing fencing). 

 
5.13  The development which has already occurred significantly alters the clearly 

delineated north eastern boundary to the settlement and results in a small but 
visually harmful urban spur projecting into the wider open field adversely altering its 
rural character. The boundary fencing of concrete base, concrete posts, slatted 
boarding and trellis is urban in character and an obtrusive and alien design 
inappropriate for this edge of settlement rural location. Furthermore, the enclosure 
of part of the open countryside by urban style fencing doesn’t respect the intrinsic 
character and quality of the countryside. The development therefore is considered 
to have a suburbanising effect on the natural landscape and would unacceptably 
alter the character and appearance of the open countryside and it therefore conflicts 
with the aims of Policy H15.  

 
5.14  Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposals are of an appropriate 

design and given their size and siting would not have a significant impact on the 
character and appearance of the area. The proposals are therefore in compliance 
with policy and SP19 of the Core Strategy and Policies ENV1 and H15 of the Selby 
District Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF.  

Page 25



Impact on Residential Amenity  
 
5.15  Relevant policies in respect of the effect upon the amenity of adjoining occupiers 

include Policy ENV1 (1) of the Selby District Local Plan. Significant weight should 
be attached to this Policy as it is broadly consistent with the aims of the NPPF to 
ensure that a good standard of amenity is achieved. 

 
5.16  The key considerations in respect of residential amenity are considered to be the 

potential of the proposal to result in overlooking of neighbouring properties, 
overshadowing of neighbouring properties and whether oppression would occur 
from the size, scale and massing of the development proposed. 

 
5.17  Comments in support of this proposal made by the public are noted. As such and 

given the nature of the proposal to extend residential curtilage of Holmewood, North 
Duffield, and the boundary treatments, it is considered that the proposal would not 
have any significant adverse impact on the amenities of the occupiers of any 
neighbouring residential properties. The amenities of the adjacent residents would 
therefore be preserved in accordance with Policy ENV1 (1) of the Selby District 
Local Plan. 

 
6 CONCLUSION 
 
6.1  The application seeks planning permission for the change of use of land from 

agricultural to garden for land adjoining the rear with associated works. 
 
6.2 The development, which has already occurred, due to the nature, scale, design and 

location and boundary treatment, is not considered to improve the economic, social 
and environmental conditions in this area and the change of use of agricultural land 
to garden land doesn’t fall within the exceptions to the forms of development 
allowed in the open countryside set out in Policy SP2 of the Core Strategy. As such, 
the proposal is contrary to Policies SP1 and SP2 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF.  
 

6.3 The development due to the projection in to the rural field bounded by visually 
prominent bright urban style boundary fencing significantly alters the clearly 
delineated north eastern boundary to the settlement and results in a visually harmful 
urban spur projecting into the wider open field adversely altering its open rural 
character and the character and setting of this part of the edge of the village. The 
boundary treatments as currently installed are urban in character and are of a harsh 
obtrusive design which is considered inappropriate for this edge of settlement and 
rural location. The development therefore is considered to have a suburbanising 
effect on the natural landscape and would unacceptably alter the character and 
appearance of the open countryside and the setting of the village it therefore 
conflicts with the aims of Policy H15 of the Selby District Local Plan, Policies SP1, 
SP2 and SP19 of the Core Strategy and with the NPPF.  

 
7 RECOMMENDATION 

 
This application is recommended to be REFUSED for to the reasons below: 
 

7.1  The development, which has already occurred, due to the nature, scale, design and 
location and boundary treatment, is not considered to improve the economic, social 
and environmental conditions in this area and the change of use of agricultural land 
to garden land doesn’t fall within the exceptions to the forms of development 

Page 26



allowed in the open countryside set out in Policy SP2 of the Core Strategy. As such, 
the proposal is contrary to Policy SP1 and SP2 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF.  

 
7.2  The development due to its position and the boundary fencing significantly alters 

the clearly delineated north eastern boundary to the settlement and results in a 
visually harmful urban spur projecting into the wider open field adversely altering its 
open rural character and the character and setting of this part of the edge of the 
village. The boundary treatments as currently installed are urban in character and 
are of a harsh obtrusive design which is considered inappropriate for this edge of 
settlement and rural location. The development therefore is considered to have a 
suburbanising effect on the natural landscape and would unacceptably alter the 
character and appearance of the open countryside and the setting of the village it 
therefore conflicts with the aims of Policy H15 of the Selby District Local Plan, 
Policies SP1, SP2 & SP19 of the Core Strategy and with the NPPF.  

 
8 Legal Issues 
 
8.1 Planning Acts 
 

This application has been determined in accordance with the relevant planning acts. 
 

8.2 Human Rights Act 1998 
 

It is considered that a decision made in accordance with this recommendation 
would not result in any breach of convention rights. 

 
8.3 Equality Act 2010 
 

This application has been determined with regard to the Council’s duties and 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. However it is considered that the 
recommendation made in this report is proportionate taking into account the 
conflicting matters of the public and private interest so that there is no violation of 
those rights. 

 
9 Financial Issues 
 
 Financial issues are not material to the determination of this application. 
 
10 Background Documents 

 
 Planning Application file reference 2019/0639/COU and associated documents. 

 
Contact Officer:   
Irma Sinkeviciene (Planning Officer) 
Isinkeviciene@selby.gov.uk  

 
Appendices: None 

Page 27

mailto:Isinkeviciene@selby.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Little

Fenton

Farm
Pond

Hawthorn

Grove Farm

GP TCB

7.3m

Moat

The

Brook

House

Ash Croft

Sunnyside

The Paddock

White House

Pond

Pond
LB

Granary

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 OS 100018656. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes 
for the period during which Selby District Council makes it available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties 
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS. 

±

1:2,500

APPLICATION SITE
Grove Farm, Sweeming Lane, Little Fenton
2019/0945/FUL

Page 29

Agenda Item 5.2



This page is intentionally left blank



S

W

E

E

M

I

N

G

Proposed Block Plan   scale  1:200 at A3  10/07/2020  drwg. no. 2821-02-02C

Barn at Grove Farm Sweeming Lane Tadcaster LS25 6HF

Len Marshall

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT * DO NOT SCALE OFF THIS DRAWING * ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE

Chris Finn Architect 38 RYTHERGATE

BOWLING GREEN HOUSE

TEL: 01757 268650

CAWOOD SELBY YO8 3TP

NORTH

Garden 

Barn Conversion 

Parking Spaces

Front Garden

Page 31

rbaldwin
New Stamp



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
Report Reference Number: 2019/0945/FUL  
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   Planning Committee 
Date:   11 November 2020 
Author:  Chris Fairchild (Senior Planning Officer) 
Lead Officer: Ruth Hardingham (Planning Development Manager) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPLICATION 
NUMBER: 

2019/0945/FUL PARISH: Little Fenton Parish 
Council 
 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Marshall VALID DATE: 30th September 2019 
EXPIRY DATE: 25th November 2019 

 
PROPOSAL: Proposed conversion of single storey barn/stable block to use as 

a single storey dwelling 
 

LOCATION: Grove Farm 
Sweeming Lane 
Little Fenton 
Leeds 
North Yorkshire 
LS25 6HF 
 

RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE 
 
This application has been brought before the Planning Committee as the proposal is 
contrary to the requirements of the development plan (namely Criterion 1 of Policy H12 of 
the Selby District Local Plan) but it is considered that there are material considerations 
which would justify approval of the application. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Site and Context 
 

1.1 The application boundary contains a number of buildings currently in use for storage 
and equestrian purposes following, as the Agents suggest, the use of the farm for 
agriculture ceasing. The buildings, including that subject of this change of use 
application, are set around a central area of hardstanding and access to the wider 
agricultural land to the west and a manege to the south. 
 

Page 33



1.2 To the east of the site are existing residential properties, both of which were 
approved changes of use from agricultural buildings to dwellings. To the north of the 
site lies a further residential dwelling with agricultural land beyond Sweeming Lane. 

  
 The Proposal 
 
1.3 Full planning permission is sought for the proposed conversion of a single storey 

barn/stable block to use as a single storey dwelling. An area of curtilage and car 
parking will be located to the immediate north of the dwelling within the current area 
of hardstanding. 

 
 Relevant Planning History 
 
1.4 There are no historical applications considered to be relevant to the determination 

of this application. 
 

2. CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY 
 
National Grid 
 

2.1 National Grid confirmed no objection, however given the close proximity to a High-
Pressure Gas Pipeline the Local Planning Authority were advised to liaise with the 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE) regarding their Land Use Planning methodology 
and associated Consultation Zones. 
 
Health and Safety Executive 
 

2.2 The HSE were consulted via their Planning Advice Web App which concluded 
“Advice: Do Not Advise Against”, consequently, the HSE does not advise, on safety 
grounds, against the granting of planning permission in this case. 
 
Environmental Health  

 
2.3 Given the close proximity of the proposed dwelling to the remaining farmstead 

Environmental Health considered that future occupants will likely experience loss of 
amenity, notably odour, light and noise emissions. It was therefore recommended 
that this new dwelling was formally linked in ownership of the dwelling to that of the 
remaining farmstead to prevent independent ownership in the future. If such a link is 
not agreeable, then the applicant should provide further detail demonstrating that 
future occupants will not suffer. 
 
Contaminated Land 

 
2.4 The site may be subject to contamination and as such an investigation and risk 

assessment is required to assess the level of any contamination. This will be 
secured by condition. Further conditions relating to any remediation and verification 
(as necessary), as well a condition relating to the reporting of unexpected 
contamination is also requested. 

 
NYCC Ecology 

 
2.5 Ecology initially commented that whilst the construction may preclude the presence 

of bats, an assessment of bat roost potential by a licensed bat surveyor is required 
to validate this. Confirmation is required if there is no potential, or if there is greater 

Page 34



potential, an emergence survey during the period May to September should be 
undertaken. 
 

2.6 Following the submission of a bat roost potential assessment survey, Ecology were 
reconsulted. Ecology noted the surveyor detected evidence of bats in the stable 
building and as stated in the report, further surveys will be needed during the bat 
activity period (May to September) to identify the type of roost and species present, 
so that appropriate mitigation can be considered; the surveys required are 
described in section 6.7.4 of the bat scoping report.  
 

2.7 Additionally, Ecology recommended an Informative drawing the applicant’s attention 
to the advice on timing of demolition work in relation to nesting birds, as set out in 
the Executive Summary of the bat scoping report. 
 

2.8 Following the submission of emergence surveys, Ecology were reconsulted. It was 
noted that the types of roost are of relatively low conservation significance and their 
loss can be mitigated and as such would meet the test set out in the Conservation 
of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017. The mitigation recommended and outlined 
in sections 7.3 to 7.8 of the bat survey report were considered appropriate albeit 
subject to any subsequent amendments made in consultation with Natural England. 
An informative on demolition not commencing until a competent person has first 
checked that no active nests are present is recommended.  
 
Highways 

 
2.9 There are no objections subject to: (1) conditions requiring vehicle access, parking 

and manoeuvring to be installed prior to use of the dwelling, and (2) restriction on 
conversion of garages into domestic accommodation. 

 
Internal Drainage Board (IDB) 

 
2.10 The IDB set out their guidelines for any increase in surface water discharge occur 

and request a condition be placed upon any decision if the considerations within 
their guidelines are triggered. 
 
Yorkshire Water 
 

2.11 No response was received following consultation. 
 
Bat Group 
 

2.12 No response was received following consultation. 
 
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust 
 

2.13 No response was received following consultation. 
 
The Environment Agency 
 

2.14 No response was received following consultation. 
 
[Officer note: The Environment Agency were consulted inadvertently and no 
response was necessary.] 
 

Page 35



Parish Council 
 

2.15 No response was received following consultation. 
 
Publicity 
 

2.16 The application was publicised via the erection of a site notice and posting of 
consultation letters to adjoining properties. Following this consultation one letter of 
representation has been received from a neighbour of an adjacent dwelling. Whilst 
they support the proposals overall, there is concern that the location of the vehicular 
parking will impact upon the amount of light entering the property and overall 
outlook. It is requested the parking/garage arrangement be reconsidered. 
 

3. SITE CONSTRAINTS 
 
 Constraints 
 
3.1 The site is located in Little Fenton, a village outside of the settlement hierarchy and 

as such outside of any defined Development Limits and therefore within the open 
countryside. 
 

3.2 There are no environmental designations nor designated heritage assets on or near 
the site. The site is however noted as a potential source of contamination owing to 
its agricultural past and is within a HSE Consultation Zone. 
 

3.3 The site is entirely within Flood Zone 2. 
 

4. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states "if regard 

is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise". This is recognised in 
paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), with paragraph 
12 stating that the framework does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision making.  
 

4.2 The development plan for the Selby District comprises the Selby District Core 
Strategy Local Plan (adopted 22nd October 2013) and those policies in the Selby 
District Local Plan (adopted on 8 February 2005) which were saved by the direction 
of the Secretary of State and which have not been superseded by the Core 
Strategy.  
 

4.3 On 17 September 2019 the Council agreed to prepare a new Local Plan. The 
timetable set out in the updated Local Development Scheme envisages adoption of 
a new Local Plan in 2023. Consultation on issues and options concluded early in 
2020. There are therefore no emerging policies at this stage so no weight can be 
attached to emerging local plan policies.  
 

4.4 In February 2019 a revised NPPF replaced the July 2018 NPPF, first published in 
March 2012. The NPPF does not change the status of an up to date development 
plan and where a planning application conflicts with such a plan, permission should 
not usually be granted unless material considerations indicate otherwise (paragraph 
12). This application has been considered against the 2019 NPPF.  

Page 36



 
4.5 Annex 1 of the NPPF outlines the implementation of the Framework -  
 

“213. …existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 
were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should 
be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).” 

 
 Selby District Core Strategy Local Plan 
 
4.6 The relevant Core Strategy Policies are: 
 

SP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SP2 Spatial Development Strategy 
SP9 Affordable Housing 
SP15 Sustainable Development and Climate Change 
SP18 Protecting and Enhancing the Environment 
SP19 Design Quality   

 
 Selby District Local Plan 

 
4.7 The relevant Selby District Local Plan Policies are: 
 

T1  Development in Relation to the Highway network 
T2  Access to Roads 
ENV1 Control of Development 
ENV2 Environmental Pollution and Contaminated Land 
H12  Conversion to residential use in the Countryside   
 

5. APPRAISAL 
 
5.1 The main issues to be taken into account when assessing this application are: 
 

1. Principle of Development 
2. Conservation & Historic Environment 
3. Suitability for re-use 
4. Extent of Alterations 
5. Landscape & Character 
6. Environmental Health 
7. Access & Highway Safety 
8. Residential Amenity 
9. Ground Conditions 
10. Affordable Housing 
11. Impact on Nature Conservation 
12. Flood Risk & Drainage 

 
 
Principle of Development 

 
Context 

 
5.2 CS Policy SP1 states that "when considering development proposals, the Council 

will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 

Page 37



development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework" and sets out 
how this will be undertaken. CS Policy SP1 is therefore consistent with national 
policy set out in the NPPF.  
 

5.3 CS Policy SP2 controls the location of future development within the District and 
directs the majority of new development to existing settlements. CS Policy SP2A(c) 
relates to the open countryside and limits development to:  
 

“Development in the countryside (outside Development Limits) will be limited 
to the replacement or extension of existing buildings, the re-use of buildings 
preferably for employment purposes, and well-designed new buildings of an 
appropriate scale, which would contribute towards and improve the local 
economy and where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities, in accordance with Policy SP13; or meet rural affordable 
housing need (which meets the provisions of Policy SP10), or other special 
circumstances.”  

 
5.4 SDLP Policy H12 controls proposals for the conversion of rural buildings to 

residential use in the countryside (outside defined Development Limits) and 
stipulates the criteria in which conversions will be permitted, where relevant – which 
in this instance is criteria 1 to 7 and these are considered in greater detail below. 
H12(8) relates to part-residential/part-business and is not applicable.  
 

5.5 Criterion (1) of Policy H12 allows proposals for the conversion of rural buildings to 
residential uses provided:  
 
“It can be demonstrated that the building, or its location, is unsuited to business use 
or that there is no demand for buildings for those purposes in the immediate 
locality”.  
 

5.6 Paragraph 79 of the NPPF sets out the policy for considering homes in the 
countryside and the circumstances in which this is permissible. Criterion (c) states:  
 
“the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting.” 
 
Assessment 

 
5.7 This proposal would result in the re-use of an existing building in the countryside 

and would therefore comply with Policy SP2A(c) of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF. 
 

5.8 However, unlike CS Policy SP2(c) and the NPPF, SDLP Policy H12 allows 
proposals for the conversion of rural buildings to residential uses provided “it can be 
demonstrated that the building, or its location, is unsuited to business use or that 
there is no demand for buildings for those purposes in the immediate locality”. The 
proposal does not meet this criterion and is therefore contrary to the requirements 
of the development plan in this regard. 
 

5.9 However, NPPF Paragraph 79(c) does not require the more onerous tests for 
commercial or employment uses within converted buildings set out in SDLP H12(1). 
 

5.10 Officers consider that the approach set out within SDLP Policy H12 is more onerous 
than, and conflicts with, NPPF Paragraph 79 and CS Policy SP2 and therefore 

Page 38



limited weight is applied to criterion (1) of SDLP Policy H12. However, it is clear that 
the conversion of buildings within the countryside (outside settlement limits) is 
acceptable in principle and therefore the proposal is acceptable. 

 
Conservation & Historic Environment 

 
Context 

 
5.11 There are no statutory listed features of architectural or historical significance on or 

in proximity to the site. 
  

5.12 SDLP Policy H12(2) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 
countryside where:  
 
“The proposal would provide the best reasonable means of conserving a building of 
architectural or historic interest and would not damage the fabric and character of 
the building” 
 
Assessment 

 
5.13 The building for conversion is not of any particular historic significance or 

architectural merit. Officers consider that the proposals are acceptable from a 
conservation and historic perspective and comply with H12(2). 

 
Suitability for re-use 
 
Context 

 
5.14 SDLP Policy H12(3) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 

countryside where: 
 
“The building is structurally sound and capable of re-use without substantial 
rebuilding” 

 
5.15 The application is supported by a Structural Condition Report that demonstrates the 

walls are free from cracking and distortion and that the ground under the 
foundations is stable. Some localised cracks are present but re-building will not be 
required.  
 

5.16 The roof consists of asbestos cement sheeting and is proposed to be removed and 
replaced with insulated profiled metal sheeting, allowing the same overall profile to 
be maintained. 
 

5.17 The floor slabs will be removed to allow removal of contaminants. The existing wall 
foundations will not be undermined by this removal nor the deeper excavation to 
allow deeper foundations for internal fit out including lining on the inside with an 
insulated timber frame. 
 

5.18 The main modifications to the external structure of the building i.e. the creation of a 
courtyard and undercover porch will be of no detriment to the overall stability of the 
structure, neither will be the removal of some of the stable walls. 
 

5.19 Doors, windows and roof timbers will be inspected on a case by case basis and 
replaced accordingly. 

Page 39



 
Assessment 

 
5.20 Officers consider that the building has been demonstrated to be structurally sound 

and suitable for re-use. The rebuilding works listed are considered proportionate to 
converting such a building into residential use and are not therefore considered to 
be “substantial”. As such, the proposals accord with SDLP Policy H12(3). 
 
Extent of Alterations 
 
Context 

 
5.21 SDLP Policy H12(4) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 

countryside where: 
 
“The proposed re-use or adaptation will generally take place within the fabric of the 
building and not require extensive alteration, rebuilding and/or extension;” 

 
Assessment 

 
5.22 The existing building will be “shortened” with a large section of the building to the 

rear being removed. Whilst this is significant, given it does not increase the 
building’s footprint officers consider there will be no impacts upon the countryside 
and is considered acceptable.  
 

5.23 The proposed cut-out of the building to create a courtyard is a lesser, yet still 
considerable alteration, and lesser still the undercover porch to the rear. Officers 
consider that on-balance these interventions are not extensive.  
 

5.24 The replacement of the roof with insulated profiled metal sheeting will result in a 
change from the flat asbestos sheeting but given the change will follow the same 
pitch officers consider this change in principle will result in a minimal alteration, 
albeit details of the specific material to be used is recommended. 
 

5.25 The existing blockwork walls are proposed to be rendered. Timber doors in the style 
of stable doors are proposed and add to the transitional approach form clear 
agricultural use to a domestic property whilst maintaining a rural character. The 
newly created rear elevation contains larger windows/bi-fold days and are of a more 
domestic appearance, a condition requiring details of windows and doors is 
recommended. 
 

5.26 Overall, subject to the aforementioned condition and on balance, Officers do not 
consider these changes constitute “extensive” alteration, albeit care to the detailing 
is required  and therefore the proposals are considered to satisfy SDLP Policy 
H12(4). 

 
Landscape & Character 
 
Context 

 
5.27 SDLP Policy H12(5) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 

countryside where: 
 

Page 40



“The conversion of the building and ancillary works, such as the creation of a 
residential curtilage and the provision of satisfactory access and parking 
arrangements, would not have a significant adverse effect on the character or 
appearance of the area or the surrounding countryside” 

 
5.28 CS Policy SP18 seeks to safeguard and, where possible, enhance the historic and 

natural environment. CS Policy SP19 expects development to achieve high quality 
design and have regard to the local character, identity and context of its 
surroundings including the open countryside. 
 

5.29 Selby District Local Plan ENV1 requires (1) the effect of the character of an area, 
and; (4) the standard of layout, design and materials in relation to the site and its 
surroundings and associated landscaping to be taken into account. 
 
Assessment 

 
5.30 The overall proposal will result in a building that will be clearly interpreted as a 

residential dwelling, however, care has been taken to ensure the overall form of the 
building maintains references to its agricultural origins and respects the character 
and appearance of the area or the surrounding countryside. Attention will need to 
be paid to the detailing of the building, including doors and windows to ensure this 
character is maintained. 
 

5.31 A discreet area of residential curtilage is proposed to the front and rear of the 
property. Given the scale of the curtilage and its proximity to other neighbouring 
dwellings’ curtilage it is not considered that the proposals will have a significant 
adverse effect on the character or appearance of the area or the surrounding 
countryside. 
 

5.32 As such, the proposals are considered to comply with CS Policy SP18 & SP19 and 
SDLP Policy ENV1 & H12. 

 
Environmental Health 
 
Context 

 
5.33 SDLP Policy H12(6) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 

countryside where:  
 

“The building is not in close proximity to intensive livestock units or industrial uses 
which would be likely to result in a poor level of amenity for occupiers of the 
dwelling” 
 
Assessment 

 
5.34 The Environmental Health consultation response raises concern regarding the 

relationship between the proposed dwelling and the remaining farmstead, 
specifically loss of amenity, notably due to odour, light, and noise emissions. 
Environmental Health recommended that unless the new dwelling could be formally 
linked in ownership to that of the remaining farmstead to prevent independent 
ownership in the future then further details of mitigation to address the concerns 
would be required.  
 

Page 41



5.35 In response, the Applicants have amended the redline to include all the remaining 
outbuildings and suggested the following approach: 
 
“The use of land falling within the area edged red on the attached plan 
reference........... shall only be used for purposes ancillary to the enjoyment of the 
dwelling house hereby approved and for no other purpose” 
 

5.36 Officers consider that such a condition would ensure that the amenity of future 
residents is not impacted and, subject to the inclusion of finalised condition wording 
(see the recommendations section of this report) the proposals would satisfy SDLP 
Policy H12(6). 

 
Access & Highway Safety 
 
Context 

 
5.37 SDLP Policy H12(7) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 

countryside where:  
 
“The proposal would not create conditions prejudicial to highway safety…” 
 

5.38 SDLP Policy T1 stipulates development will only be permitted where existing roads 
have adequate capacity and can safely serve the development, unless appropriate 
off-site highway improvements are undertaken by the developer.  
 

5.39 SDLP Policy T2 only allows for a new access or the intensification of the use of an 
existing access will be permitted provided where (1) there would be no detriment to 
highway safety; and 2) the access can be created in a location and to a standard 
acceptable to the highway authority.  
 

5.40 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that planning applications should only be refused 
where there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
Assessment 

 
5.41 The proposals have been considered by the Local Highway Authority who have 

found the proposals acceptable in principle although clarification that on-site parking 
was provided was sought: the applicants have subsequently provided plans 
demonstrating sufficient vehicle turning is available on-site. Therefore, officers 
consider the proposals will not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety and 
the proposals comply with SDLP Policy T1, T2 & H12. 

 
Residential Amenity 
 
Context 

 
5.42 SDLP Policy H12(7) allows the conversion of rural buildings to residential use in the 

countryside where: 
 
“The proposal would not create conditions… which would have a significant adverse 
effect on local amenity…” 
 

Page 42



5.43 SDLP Policy ENV1 provides eight broad aspirations that are taken into account 
when achieving “good quality development”. ENV1(1) requires “the effect upon the 
character of the area or the amenity of adjoining occupiers” to be taken into 
consideration.  
 
Assessment 

 
5.44 The proposal will introduce car parking c.10m from the western elevation of the 

dwelling to the east which contains windows to a habitable room. Concerns have 
been raised that this parking will reduce light to the habitable room and result in an 
unattractive outlook.  
 

5.45 At such a separation, officers do not consider that there will be a material 
detrimental impact upon light entering the neighbouring dwelling and any impact 
would not be permanent given the nature of vehicles. The attractiveness of an 
outlook is not a material consideration in planning, however, it should be noted that 
the fallback is a live farmyard whereby the operation, in terms of scale, intensity, 
activity, would lead to a much greater impact than this discreet residential use. The 
proposals are not therefore considered to impact upon any existing residents’ 
amenity. 
 

5.46 The proposals include sufficient windows to allow a reasonable standard of daylight 
and sunlight into the dwelling. Rooms are well proportioned, and the living space is 
commensurate with the scale of the dwelling. The proposed private amenity space, 
whilst minimal, is considered acceptable in this location where access to the open 
countryside is achievable. 
 

5.47 It is considered that the proposals do not result in a significant adverse impact upon 
the amenity of existing residents and future residents. 

 
Ground Conditions 
 
Context 

 
5.48 SDLP Policy ENV2A states development that would be affected by unacceptable 

levels of noise, nuisance, contamination or other environmental pollution will be 
refused unless satisfactorily remediated or prevented. CS Policy SP19(k) seeks to 
prevent development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or 
being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water, light or noise 
pollution or land instability. 
 

5.49 NPPF Paragraph 178 requires planning decisions to ensure that a site is suitable for 
its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination, be remediated (where appropriate) to an appropriate 
standard, and be subject to site investigation undertaken by competent persons. 
 
Assessment 

 
5.50 The proposal is noted as a potential source of contamination owing to its historic 

use as a farm. The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the screening 
assessment form but owing to the former use and potential to expose residents to 
ground contamination it is considered prudent to undertake a ground survey. 
Officers agree that it is necessary such a survey is undertaken prior to the 
commencement of development. 

Page 43



 
5.51 The site is in proximity to National Grid infrastructure. National Grid have no 

objection to the proposals subject to consultation with the HSE. The HSE concluded 
a “Do Not Advise Against” i.e. no objection to the proposal. 
 

5.52 Subject to the inclusion of these recommendations development of the site is 
appropriate in relation to ground conditions and complies with CS Policy SP19, 
SDLP Policy ENV2 and NPPF Paragraph 178. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
Context 

 
5.53 Core Strategy Policy SP9 and the accompanying Affordable Housing 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out the affordable housing policy 
context for the District. Policy SP9 outlines that for schemes of less than 10 units or 
less than 0.3ha a fixed sum will be sought to provide affordable housing within the 
District. 
 

5.54 However, the NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions (as set out in 
paragraph 2 of the NPPF) and states at paragraph 63: 
 
“Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments 
that are not major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where 
policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). To support the re-use of 
brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any 
affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate amount”. 
 

5.55 For housing, ‘major development’ is defined within the NPPF Glossary as being 
development of 10 or more homes, or where the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or 
more. 
 
Assessment 

 
5.56 The application proposes the creation of one dwelling on a site which has an area of 

less than 0.5 hectares, and as such the proposal is not considered to be major 
development. Having had regard to Policy SP9 of the Core Strategy and material 
considerations including the Affordable Housing SPD and the NPPF, on balance, 
the application is acceptable without a contribution for affordable housing. 
 
Impact on Nature Conservation 
 
Context 

 
5.57 Relevant policies in respect of nature conservation and protected species include 

CS Policy SP18 of the Core Strategy. CS Policy SP18 seeks to safeguard and, 
where possible, enhancing the natural environment. This is achieved through 
effective stewardship by (inter-alia) safeguarding protected sites from inappropriate 
development, and, ensuring development seeks to produce a net gain in 
biodiversity. 
 

5.58 NPPF Paragraph 170(d) seeks for planning decisions to contribute to and enhance 
the natural environment by minimising impacts and providing net gains for 
biodiversity. 

Page 44



 
Assessment 

 
5.59 Following submission of additional information, the County Ecologist considers the 

proposals are acceptable. Officers agree that there are no concerns from a nature 
conservation perspective subject to securing and implementing mitigation measures 
that resultant from the Natural England licensing programme. Subject to this 
licence, the proposals are acceptable and comply with CS Policy SP18 and NPPF 
Paragraph 170(d). 

 
Flood Risk & Drainage 
 
Context 

 
5.60 The site sits entirely within Flood Zone 2. 

 
5.61 CS Policy SP15A(d) seeks to ensure that development in areas of flood risk is 

avoided wherever possible through the application of the sequential test and 
exception test (if necessary). This policy is in line with NPPF Paragraph 155 which 
seeks to direct development away from areas at highest risk. 
 

5.62 SDC’s Flood Risk Sequential Test Developer Guidance Note (October 2019) is also 
a material consideration. The Guidance Note accords with Paragraph 164 and 
footnote 51 of the NPPF which clarifies that minor development is exempt from 
requiring a sequential and exception test. 
 
Assessment 

 
5.63 The proposal constitutes a change of use application and as such a sequential test 

(and exception test) is not required. 
 

5.64 A residential dwelling constitutes a “more vulnerable development” and within Flood 
Zone 2 the Environment Agency’s standing advice should be followed: this requires 
a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to be submitted and reviewed in accordance with 
this advice. In the first instance, a “more vulnerable development” within Flood Zone 
2 is considered “appropriate” in respect of flood risk vulnerability. 
 

5.65 An FRA has been submitted with the application. The FRA considers a reduction in 
impermeable surface will result in a reduction of surface water run-off, which as per 
the indicative drainage plan drains into existing surface water drains that discharge 
into watercourses. Whilst Officers agree that a reduction in the permeable surface 
will result in a reduction in run-off, it is also considered prudent to ensure this run-off 
rate is minimised and accounts for climate change. As such details of drainage will 
be secured by condition. 
 

5.66 Finished floor levels are proposed to be 300mm above the existing floor level. 
Standing advice requires ground floor levels to be whichever is higher of 300 mm 
above the general ground level of the site, or 600mm above the estimated river or 
sea flood level. Disappointingly, the estimated flood levels have not been clarified 
(nor a record of any historical flood events provided), however in accordance with 
standing advice, where floor levels are lower than the estimated flood level for the 
site extra flood resistance and resilience measures can be incorporated to 
overcome this. Officers recognise that there may be limited scope to extend floor 

Page 45



levels any higher without compromising head height within the parameters of the 
existing building. 
 

5.67 The submitted FRA demonstrates that some flood resistance and resilience 
measures have been considered. Officers consider that, on balance, the floor levels 
being set at 300mm above ground level is acceptable subject to the provision of full 
details of flood resilience measures, as well as subscription to the Government’s 
flood alert system and the creation of an evacuation plan that the proposals are 
acceptable from a flood risk perspective. 
 

5.68 The applicants have submitted an indicative drainage plan that demonstrates 
existing surface water drains, that discharge into a watercourse, will be utilised for 
surface water.  A sewage package treatment plant will be located 10m from existing 
building and also discharge into this existing drain. Whilst soakaways are the 
preferred method for surface water drainage, given surface water drainage is 
already present officers consider this indicative approach is acceptable, however, 
given the introduction of foul drainage it is considered prudent to ensure run-off 
rates are limited.  

 
6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 Planning permission is sought for the conversion of an existing building within the 

open countryside to residential use. 
 

6.2 The application is considered to be acceptable in principle and represents 
appropriate development in the countryside in accordance with Policies SP1 and 
SP2 of the Core Strategy and national policy including paragraph 79 of the NPPF. 
Policy H12 (1) of the Selby District Local Plan is given limited weight as the 
approaches taken by Policy SP2A(c) and Paragraph 79 of the NPPF are 
significantly different to that taken in Policy H12 as they do not require the more 
onerous tests set out in H12 (1). 
 

6.3 A buildings survey has been submitted that demonstrates, the building is capable of 
being converted without substantial rebuilding work. As such, subject to the wider 
development management considerations of SDLP Policy H12, the principle is 
considered acceptable. 
 

6.4 Officers have considered the proposals against all material considerations that arise 
from the development, including the relevant criteria of SDLP Policy H12. This 
report demonstrates that the proposals overcome each of these issues including by 
way of conditions where appropriate.  

 
7. RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1 This application is recommended to be GRANTED subject to the following 

conditions: 
 
01. The development for which permission is hereby granted shall be begun within a 

period of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: 
 
In order to comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Page 46



 
02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

plans, drawings and documents listed below: 
 
• Location Plan     ref. 2821-01-03C 
• Proposed Block Plan   ref. 2821-02-02B 
• Proposed Indicative Drainage Plan ref. 2821-02-03B 
• Proposed Plans and Elevations   ref. 2821-02-01B 
 
REASON: 
 
For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

03. Notwithstanding the indicative flood resilience measures contained within the 
notes on the approved plans, details of flood resilience measures shall be 
submitted for approval by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter the 
approved scheme implemented prior to occupation of the development hereby 
approved. 

 
REASON: 
 
To reduce the risk and impact of flooding to the proposed development and 
future occupants. 
 

04. The applicant or future occupier of the dwelling shall register with the 
Government’s flood information service prior to occupation of the dwelling.  
 
REASON: 
 
To reduce the risk and impact of flooding to the proposed development and 
future occupants. 
 

05. Prior to the occupation of the development the finished floor levels shall be 
constructed no lower than 300mm above the prevailing ground level. The 
finished floor levels shall be retained at this height thereafter. 
 
REASON: 
 
To reduce the risk and impact of flooding to the proposed development and 
future occupants. 
 

06. The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off site. 
 
REASON: 
 
In the interest of satisfactory and sustainable drainage. 
 

07. Prior to the occupation of development, a scheme for the provision of surface 
water drainage works, including any treated foul water discharge, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. Any such Scheme 
shall be implemented to the reasonable satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is brought into use. 

 

Page 47



The following criteria should be considered: 
 
• Any proposal to discharge surface water to a watercourse from the 

redevelopment of a brownfield site should first establish the extent of any 
existing discharge to that watercourse. 

• Peak run-off from a brownfield site should be attenuated to 70% of any 
existing discharge rate (existing rate taken as 140lit/sec/ha or the established 
rate whichever is the lesser for the connected impermeable area). 

• Discharge from “greenfield sites” taken as 1.4 lit/sec/ha (1:1yr storm). 
• Storage volume should accommodate a 1:30 yr. event with no surface 

flooding and no overland discharge off the site in a 1:100yr event. 
• A 30% allowance for climate change should be included in all calculations. 
• A range of durations should be used to establish the worst-case scenario. 
• The suitability of soakaways, as a means of surface water disposal, should 

be ascertained in accordance with BRE Digest 365 or other approved 
methodology. 
 

REASON: 
 
To ensure the development is provided with satisfactory means of drainage and 
to reduce the risk of flooding. 
 

08. Any works associated with development that will disturb, modify or result in 
permanent loss of bat roost/s will require a Natural England EPS development 
licence. The licence will be obtained from Natural England, and any subsequent 
mitigation measures be implemented, before any of the following associated 
works commence: 

 
• Bat exclusion 
• Roof stripping and subsequent re-roofing 
• Erection of scaffolding 
• Pointing of brickwork 
• New windows and doors 
• Internal renovations 

 
REASON: 
 
In order to protect and enhance biodiversity. 
 

09. The use of land falling within the area edged red on the approved Location Plan 
ref. 2821-01-03C shall only be used for purposes ancillary to the enjoyment of 
the dwelling house hereby approved and for no other purpose. 
 
REASON: 
 
In the interests of the amenities of the future occupiers of the dwelling hereby 
approved. 
 

10. Prior to development, an investigation and risk assessment (in addition to any 
assessment provided with the planning application) must be undertaken to 
assess the nature and extent of any land contamination. The investigation and 
risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report 

Page 48



of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include: 
 

a. a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination (including 
ground gases where appropriate); 

b. an assessment of the potential risk to:  
• human health, 
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
• adjoining land, 
• groundwaters and surface waters, 
• ecological systems, 
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  

c. an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).  
 

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for The Management of Land Contamination, CLR 
 
REASON: 
 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risk to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors. 
 

11. Prior to development, a detailed remediation scheme to bring the side to a 
condition suitable for the intended use (by removing unacceptable risk to human 
health , buildings and other property and the natural and historic environment) 
must be prepared and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site 
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify 
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
REASON: 
 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risk to workers, neighbours and other 
offside receptors. 
 

12. Prior to first occupation or use, the approved remediation scheme must be 
carried out in accordance with its terms under verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: 
 

Page 49



To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems. 
 

13. In the event that unexpected contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be 
prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, Which Is Subject To 
The Approval In Writing Of The Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: 
 
To ensure that risk from land contamination to the future uses of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those two controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offside receptors. 
 

14. No part of the development shall be brought into use until the approved vehicle 
access, parking, manoeuvring and turning areas approved under Condition 2: 
 

a. have been constructed in accordance with drawing ref. 2821-02-02B 
 

Once created these areas shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and 
retained for their intended purpose at all times. 
 
REASON: 
 
In accordance with policy # and to provide for appropriate on-site vehicle 
facilities in the interests of highway safety and the general amenity of the 
development. 
 

15. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A to Class E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) no extensions, 
garages, outbuildings or any other structures shall be erected, nor new windows, 
doors or other openings inserted other than those hereby approved. 
REASON: 
 
In order to ensure that the character and appearance of the surrounding area is 
protected in the interests of residential amenity having had regard to Policies 
ENV1 and H12 of the Selby District Local Plan. 
 

16. Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved plans and forms, no 
development above finished floor level shall take place until details of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development including walls, roofs, windows, and doors have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details thereafter. 
 
REASON: 

Page 50



 
In order to ensure that the character and appearance of the surrounding area is 
protected. 
 

 INFORMATIVES 
 

01. The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant 
to identify various solutions during the application process to ensure that the 
proposal comprised sustainable development and would improve the economic, 
social and environmental conditions of the area and would accord with the 
development plan. These were incorporated into the scheme and/or have been 
secured by planning condition. The Local Planning Authority has therefore 
implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 
 

02. All nesting birds are protected under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981. Prior 
to any demolition work, a competent person should first check that no active 
nests are present. Any which are found must be left undisturbed until young 
have fledged. 

 
8. Legal Issues 
 

Planning Acts 
 

8.1 This application has been determined in accordance with the relevant planning acts. 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
 

8.2 It is considered that a decision made in accordance with this recommendation 
would not result in any breach of convention rights. 

 
Equality Act 2010 

 
8.3 This application has been determined with regard to the Council’s duties and 

obligations under the Equality Act 2010. However it is considered that the 
recommendation made in this report is proportionate taking into account the 
conflicting matters of the public and private interest so that there is no violation of 
those rights. 

 
9. Financial Issues 
 
9.1  Financial issues are not material to the determination of this application. 
 
10. Background Documents 

 
Planning Application file reference 2019/0945/FUL and associated documents. 

 
 
Contact Officer:   
Chris Fairchild (Senior Planning Officer) 
cfairchild@selby.gov.uk  

 
Appendices: None 

Page 51

mailto:cfairchild@selby.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Thorganby

LB

Poor's Close

Cottingwith Covert

TCB

7.9m

7.8m

8.2m

Pond

The
Grove

House

Ppg Sta

Lodge

Glebe

Poplars

Pinfold House

Hall House

Nook

House
ThicketCoach

Pinfol

Somew

Thorganby

Cottag

The

The

House

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 OS 100018656. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes 
for the period during which Selby District Council makes it available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties 
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS. 

±

1:2,500

APPLICATION SITE
Land off Westfield Lane, Thorganby
2019/1216/COU

Page 53

Agenda Item 5.3



This page is intentionally left blank



Verge with ditch

A
W

N
IN

G

1
1

0
0

0
6

0
0

0
1

1
0

0
0

11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000

NEW FENCE

DRINKING WATER TAP AND
FIRE POINT (EXISTING).

ENTRANCE ACCESS ROAD.
10M Radiused lead-in to both sides.
Minimum length from road edge 13M.
Minimum width, 7.3M.

WASTE BINS WITHIN GATED ENCLOSURE.

PROPOSED POSITION FOR CESSPIT

SHOWER AND TOILET
2X TOILET
2X SHOWER

C
A
R
A
V
A
N

C
A
R

ELEC WATER ELEC WATER ELEC WATER

3100

Verge

6200

DRAINAGE (EXISTING).

NEW PATHS AND ROADWAY WITH
PERMEABLE SURFACE.

5600 5400
Existing tree to remain.

C
A
R
A
V
A
N

C
A
R

11000 11000 11000 11000 11000 11000

Westfield Lane

MAINS ELECTRIC IN BRICK
HOUSING.

FE
N
C

E 
(E

xis
tin

g)

N
EW

 H
ED

G
E

NEW FENCE

N
EW

 FEN
C
E

FENCE (Existing)

NEW FENCE

EXISTING HEDGES
AND VERGES

EXISTING HEDGES

Hedge

Hedge

ELECWATER ELECWATER ELECWATER

A
W

N
IN

G

Existing tree to remain 3No. Existing trees
to remain

NEW GATE ENTRANCE WITH PEDESTRIAN
ACCESS.

7300 Min

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN.

TURNING SPACE

2
0

0
0

9M Min

2000

1830 1830

3
0

0

7
0

01
1

0
0

1
2

0
0

Shopfitting & Joinery Setting Out
DrawIT

T   01904 691404
M  07806 661919
E   drawit@btinternet.com

REVISIONNAMEDATE

Scale @ A4 Drawing Number

DETAILCLIENT

PROJECT

Mr. D. Nice, Country Living Campsite.

Westfield Lane, Thorganby, York, YO19 6EN.

Proposed Site Plan 14/03/19 J.L.H.

1:500 DN-001 / D

0 10M 20M 30M 40M 50M

Grass

Hard standing

KEY

Dimensions shown in millimeters.
Size of car shown = 4.5m x 1.9m.
Size of caravan shown = 7.0m x 2.3m, (inc. towing bar).
Size of awning shown = 6.0m x 2.5m.

New road & paths

PROPOSED SITE PLAN.
Scale 1:500 & A4 or 1:250 at A2.

A - 06/11/19 - Cesspit added. Notes revised.

TYPICAL FENCE DETAIL.
Scale 1:50 & A4 or 1:25 at A2.

New fencing to be timber post and rail.
6' 0" x 6" x 3" posts set 2' 0" into the
ground.
Rails, 12' 0" x 4" x 1.5".

B - 17/12/19 - New fence details added.

N

C - 31/03/20 - Existing mobile toilet and shower unit to remain.
D - 08/10/20 - Revisions made as advised by Selby District Council on
06/10/2020. Toilet block added back in. Entrance re-positioned.

P
age 55

AutoCAD SHX Text
IF IN DOUBT ASK



T
his page is intentionally left blank



     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report Reference Number: 2019/1216/COU  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   Planning Committee 
Date:   11 November 2020 
Author:  Rebecca Leggott (Senior Planning Officer) 
Lead Officer: Ruth Hardingham (Planning Development Manager) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPLICATION 
NUMBER: 

2019/1216/COU PARISH: Thorganby Parish Council 

APPLICANT: Ms Hardcastle VALID DATE: 29th April 2020 
EXPIRY DATE: 24th June 2020 

 
PROPOSAL: Change of use of land to form a 12-pitch touring caravan site 

including the siting of shower and toilet facilities, new internal 
access track and associated works 
 

LOCATION: Land Off 
Westfield Lane 
Thorganby 
York 
 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT 
 
This application was brought before Planning Committee on the 28 October when 
members resolved to defer the application to allow Thorganby Parish Council the 
opportunity to speak. It should be noted that this application was originally brought before 
Planning Committee as directed by the Head of Planning due to the sensitive 
consideration of the level of objection. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Site and Context 
 

1.1 The application site is located to the west and just beyond the defined development 
limits of Thorganby, which is a secondary village as identified within the Core Strategy. 
 

1.2 Thorganby is a historic village, which dates back to the medieval period. The village 
has strong links to agriculture and still maintains its relationship with the surrounding 
farmland.  

 

Page 57



1.3 The application site is within proximity to the Thorganby Conservation Area, which is 
approximately 75 meters to the east of the application site. Furthermore, the site is 
located within Flood Zone 1, with a low probability of flooding.  
 

1.4 The application site is a grassed field and currently being used for 5 caravans under a 
12-month license. A small toilet shower facility is placed on the land in association with 
this use. The site is accessed from the narrow single carriageway Westfield Lane, with 
open fields to the north, south, west and the village to the east. 

 
The Proposal 

 
1.5 Proposals are for the change of use of land to allow an extension to an existing touring 

caravan site, together with 12 all-weather caravan pitches, replacement shower and 
toilet facilities, new internal access track and associated works. 
 

1.6  It is noted that the proposals would create an additional 7 pitches, on top of the 
existing 5 currently existing on site under the permitted 12-month license.  

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
1.7  There are no historical applications which are relevant to the determination of this 

application.  
 
2. CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY 

 
2.1. Yorkshire Water– No response received.  

 
2.2. NYCC Highways – NYCC have raised no objections to the proposed development 

subject to the following conditions: (1) New and altered Private Access or Verge 
Crossing at Westfield Lane, Thorganby (2) Visibility Splays at Westfield Lane, (3) 
Delivery of off-site highway Works and (4) Provision of Approved Access, Turning and 
Parking Areas. The aforementioned conditions would address any concerns over the 
proposal which will see it double in size. Westfield Lane is a single carriageway road 
approximately 3.17 metres in width. This is not of sufficient dimensions to allow for 
simultaneous passage of 2 cars let alone 2 cars pulling caravans. Further to this, an 
informative has been advised relating to a separate license required for works in the 
highway. 

 
On the 13th August 2020 amended comments were received from NYCC Highways, 
following a request to investigate the issue of passing places. The applicant has been 
is discussion with the Highways Officer and have met on site and it was determined 
that there is insufficient land to accommodate a passing place.  However, during the 
site meeting it was felt that the widening of the access and the setting back of the 
gates, would allow a car and caravan to pull off the highway or wait in the access 
before proceeding along Westfield Lane should another vehicle be travelling in the 
opposite direction.  The applicant advised that all caravans have to vacate their pitches 
in the morning and those arriving cannot have access to the site until the afternoon.  
Therefore, helping prevent simultaneous passage of caravans.   
 
Therefore, NYCC Highways have recommended that only the following conditions be 
attached should permission be granted: (1) New and altered Private Access or Verge 
Crossing at Westfield Lane, Thorganby (2) Visibility Splays at Westfield Lane, (3) 
Provision of Approved Access, Turning and Parking Areas. 
 

Page 58



2.3.  Environmental Health – The Environmental Health Officer has raised no objections 
to the proposed development. However, has advised that the site will require a license 
under the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960.  

 
2.4. Parish Council - Thorganby Parish Council strongly object to the proposed 

development. The Parish Council have raised concerns for the following: 
 

• The site is located within the open countryside and therefore outside of 
development limits.  

• The site is located within very close proximity to the boundary of the 
Thorganby Conservation Area. Which is a designated heritage asset, and 
consideration should therefore be given to the provisions of the Assets 
Conservation, Section 72 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act, 1972 (Chapter 9) and paragraph 193 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework of February 2019. (NPPF) 

• There are no public benefits which would arise from the development which 
would outweigh any harm to the Thorganby Conservation Area.  

• There are concerns that as a result of the expenses associated with the 
works required by the LHA and IDB that the applicant will need to further 
extend the caravan site to make the proposals viable. Further applications to 
extend the site would exacerbate the issues raised. 

• Increased traffic movements through the village and the use of a single-track 
road are a cause for concern. The single-track road is not considered 
suitable for caravans. Further to this, there are a number of highway safety 
concerns through the use of some of the existing roads such as the junction 
at Westfield Lane and Main Street being dangerous for slow moving vehicles 
so close to a blind spot.  

• Concerns for noise impacts the increase from 4 to 12 caravans would have. 
• The expansion of the existing site would lead to an increase in dog fouling 
• Thorganby has very limited local amenities. 

 
2.5. The Ouse & Derwent Internal Drainage Board – The IDB have raised no 

objections subject to a condition requiring drainage works to be agreed and a 
number of standard informatives relating to, (1) Riparian maintenance responsibility, 
and (2) Consent discharge.  
 

2.6. Conservation Officer – The Conservation Officer initially raised due to insufficient 
information as there had been no consideration for any of the surrounding heritage 
assets within proximity of the site. This includes the Thorganby Conservation Area 
and surrounding Listed Buildings.  
 
The Conservation Officer has raised concerns that the prefabricated shower block 
should be simplified in design to remove the gable section from the roof and the 
glazing bars and also raised concerns in terms of the visual impact of up to 12 
caravans on site would be viewed in the context with the Conservation Area and 
surrounding Listed Buildings.  
 
Following the receipt of additional information by way of a Heritage Statement, 
further comments were provided by the Conservation Officer on the 26th August 
2020. In summary these states that the additional information does not constitute a 
‘Heritage Statement’ and does not adequately provided an assessment of impact. 
 

Page 59



However, the Conservation Officer does acknowledge that there appears to be a 
good degree of screening from the Conservation Area. Though it is still considered 
that there would be views on the approach to the Conservation Area down 
Westfield Lane unless hedgerow trees are still present, when in leaf this may 
partially screen the site.  
 
The comments also states that, it appears that the existing use as a caravan / 
campsite has limited impact as the field remains as such and the introduction of the 
vehicles and tents comprise the greatest change (which is temporary). The proposal 
would formalise the use and introduce permanent features including changes to the 
access to the site.  
 
The Conservation Officer, concludes that whilst there will likely be a degree of harm 
to the setting of the Conservation Area from the change of use of the field in the 
manner proposed, this would be very low level of impact when considering the 
significance of the Conservation Area as a whole.  
 

2.7. Landscape Architect – The Landscape Architect has recommended that the 
scheme be amended to take into account the following:  
 

• Existing boundary hedgerows and trees; should be protected and retained. 
These should be accurately located on the plans together with root protection 
area (to BS5837). Existing and proposed screening hedgerows should be 
maintained to a minimum target height of 3m, which could be conditioned. 

• Proposed new hedgerows; should be located along the site west boundary, 
to maintain screening of the site. Hedgerows should be 75% Hawthorne + 
other locally occurring native species. The plan to specify planting species, 
quantity, size together with notes for maintenance establishment. 

• Pitch hardstanding’s; set at least 2m away from boundary hedgerows 
(particularly along Westfield Land) to allow the hedgerow to grow and 
maintain screening of the site. 

• Proposed access; to protect the corner Oak tree root protection area. Plans 
also to show highway visibility splay requirements. Would recommend 
permeable stone for drainage and to protect rural setting character. 

• Proposed services; drainage outfalls through hedgerow to the ditch 
minimised to protect existing hedgerow (e.g. drain runs combined on site 
side). Show electricity supply and other service runs, to protect trees and 
hedgerow. 

 
2.8. Neighbour Summary – All immediate neighbours were informed by letter and a 

site notice was erected. Resulting in 3 letters of support and 6 letters of objection. 
 
In summary the letters of support state:  
 

• The proposals would support the villages amenities including the public 
house and the bus service. 

• In this current climate extra trade for local businesses is essential as long as 
no environmental impact. 

• This is a small extension of a further 6 caravans to an existing site. 
• Since the local pub, The Jefferson Arms reopened the support from people 

using the existing caravan site has been phenomenal. On average 
amounting to at least 30% of the weekend trade.  

Page 60



• The caravans are not considered to contribute to speeding vehicles through 
the village 

• No noise issues experienced from the caravan site. 
 

In summary the letters of objection raise concerns for the following: 
 
Highways 

• Highway safety and the junction at Westfield Lane and Main Street. 
• Increased traffic along Westfield Lane will make it more difficult for residents 

to access their driveways. 
• Westfield Lane is not suitable for larger vehicles. 
• The use of Westfield Lane would cause issues with cyclists, joggers, horse 

riders and people who walk their pets along this road.  
• Increased pollution. 
• The village has no shop meaning campers would need to use their vehicles 

for come and go more frequently. 
• Objections to the suggested highways conditions for putting passing places 

along Westfield Lane. This is as this would alter the character of the road. 
• A runoff area should be provided so that vehicles are not left on Westfield 

Lane.  
 
Conservation 

• Noise pollution would disturb the amenity of surrounding wildlife, walkers and 
residents. 

• The development would not be in keeping with the Thorganby Conservation 
Area. The shower block specifically would be inappropriate in the 
Conservation Area and would negatively impact on the rural nature of the 
area. 

 
Sewerage system 

• It would be inappropriate to connect the site to the existing inadequate 
sewerage system.  
 

Other 
• Trespassing on to neighbour’s land. 
• The access should be moved away from the ancient Oak trees. 
• Lack of supervision on site, someone should visit the occupants each night 

at curfew and enforce the rules. 
 
3. SITE CONSTRAINTS 
 

Constraints 
 
3.1. The site is located outside development limits within the open countryside. 
 
4. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states "if regard is 

to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise". This is recognised in paragraph 11 
of the NPPF, with paragraph 12 stating that the framework does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making.  

Page 61



 
4.2. The development plan for the Selby District comprises the Selby District Core Strategy 

Local Plan (adopted 22nd October 2013) and those policies in the Selby District Local 
Plan (adopted on 8 February 2005) which were saved by the direction of the Secretary 
of State and which have not been superseded by the Core Strategy. 
 

4.3. On 17 September 2019 the Council agreed to prepare a new Local Plan. The 
timetable set out in the updated Local Development Scheme envisages adoption of a 
new Local Plan in 2023. Consultation on issues and options would take place early in 
2020. There are therefore no emerging policies at this stage so no weight can be 
attached to emerging local plan policies. 
 

4.4. The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) (NPPF) replaced the July 
2018 NPPF, first published in March 2012.  The NPPF does not change the status of 
an up to date development plan and where a planning application conflicts with such a 
plan, permission should not usually be granted unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (paragraph 12).  This application has been considered against the 2019 
NPPF. 
 

4.5. Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines the 
 implementation of the Framework - 

 
 “213. …..existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 

were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should 
be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).” 

 
Selby District Core Strategy Local Plan 

 
4.6. The relevant Core Strategy Policies are: 

 
• SP1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
• SP2 - Spatial Development Strategy  
• SP13 - Scale and Distribution of Economic Growth 
• SP15 - Sustainable Development and Climate Change 
• SP18 - Protecting and Enhancing the Environment 
• SP19 - Design Quality    

 
Selby District Local Plan 

 
4.7. The relevant Selby District Local Plan Policies are: 
 

• ENV1 - Control of Development  
• ENV25 - Development in Conservation Areas    
• EMP2 - Location of Economic Development 
• RT12 – Touring Caravan and Camping Facilities 
• T1 - Development in Relation to the Highway Network  

 
5.  APPRAISAL 
 
5.1. The main issues to be considered when assessing this application are: 

 

Page 62



• The Principle of Development 
• Impact on the Surrounding Heritage Assets 
• Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
• Impact on Residential Amenity 
• Impact on Highway Safety 
• Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
The Principle of the Development  

 
5.2. The proposals are for the change of use of land to form 12 all-weather caravan 

pitches, the siting of a shower and toilet facility, new internal access track and 
associated works.  The site lies within open countryside and its former use was an 
agricultural field. However, is currently being used in part, as a caravan site under the 
Caravan License exemption for 5 touring caravans.   
 

5.3. Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy outlines that "when considering development 
proposals the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework" and sets out how this will be undertaken. Policy SP1 is therefore 
consistent with the guidance in Paragraph 14 of the NPPF. 

 
5.4. The application site is located outside any defined development limits and is therefore 

located within the open countryside. 
 
5.5. Policy SP2A (a) of the Core Strategy states, “The majority of new development will be 

directed to the towns and more sustainable villages depending on their future role as 
employment, retail and service centres, the level of local housing need, and particular 
environmental, flood risk and infrastructure constraints”. Further to this, the Policy 
SP2A (b) states, development in the countryside (outside Development Limits) will be 
limited to the replacement or extension of existing buildings, the re-use of buildings 
preferably for employment purposes, and well-designed new buildings of an 
appropriate scale, which would contribute towards and improve the local economy and 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities, in accordance with 
Policy SP13. 
 

5.6. Policy SP13 of the Core Strategy states that in rural areas, sustainable development 
which brings about sustainable economic growth through local employment 
opportunities or expansion of businesses and enterprise will be supported, including 
(amongst other things) the re-use of existing building and infrastructure and the 
development of well-designed new buildings, the redevelopment of existing and former 
employment sites, the diversification of agriculture and other land based rural 
businesses, rural tourism and leisure development, small scale rural development. In 
all cases development should be sustainable and be appropriate in scale and type to 
its location, not harm the character of the area, and seek a good standard of amenity.   
 

5.7. Policy RT12 states that, proposals for touring caravan and camping facilities will be 
permitted provided: 

 
1) The proposal would not have a significant adverse effect on the character and 

open appearance of the countryside, or harm acknowledged nature 
conservation interests; 

 

Page 63



2) Any proposal for development within the locally important landscape areas, as 
defined on the proposals map, would conserve and enhance the landscape 
quality of the area in terms of scale, siting, layout, design, materials and 
landscaping; 

 
3) The proposal would not be visually intrusive and would be well screened by 

existing vegetation, or would incorporate a substantial amount of landscaping 
within and around the site; 

 
4) The site would have good access to the primary road network; 

 
5) The proposal would not create conditions prejudicial to highway safety or which 

would have a significant adverse effect on local amenity; 
 

6) Any new ancillary buildings or structures are essential to providing basic 
services on the site; and 

 
7) The number of pitches in anyone would be in proportion to the size of the locally 

resident population so as not to disrupt community life. 
 
5.8. The proposal is for the change of use of land to form a 12-pitch touring caravan site. 

The operational development includes a new internal access track and the siting of a 
new well- designed pre-fabricated amenity block of an appropriate scale, which would 
not appear uncommon within the rural landscape. The proposals are considered to 
contribute towards and improve Thorganby’s local economy and will maintain the 
vitality of rural community though attracting tourism to the village and encouraging use 
of existing facilities. Therefore, the proposals would be acceptable in principle in terms 
of Policy SP2A (c). However, proposals that are acceptable in principle are still 
required to meet the policy tests set out within this policy. This includes whether the 
proposed development would contribute towards or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities, in accordance with policy SP13. 
 

5.9. Where the proposed scheme may be acceptable in principle it would be required to 
meet the policy tests set out in Local Plan Policy RT12 (1), (2), (3), (5), (6) and (7) and 
all other relevant local and national policy tests. 

 
5.10. The impact on acknowledged interests against the above policy tests is considered 

in the following parts of the report.  
 
Impact on the Surrounding Heritage Assets 
 

5.11. The application site is within proximity to the Thorganby Conservation Area, being 
75m to the east. It is also noted that there are a number of Grade II Listed Buildings 
within the village of Thorganby. The closest Listed Building being Thorganby House, 
which would be over 100 meters away.  
 

5.12. When considering proposals which affect Conservation Areas regard should be 
made to S72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area Act) and S66 
(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, which states that with respect to any 
buildings or other land in a Conservation Area, of any powers, under any of the 
provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  
 

Page 64



5.13. It is noted that Section 66 of the Act states that in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the 
local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features 
of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 

5.14. Relevant policies in respect to the impact of development on the Thorganby 
Conservation Area and the character and form of the area include Policy ENV1 (1), (4) 
and  (5) and ENV25 of the Selby District Local Plan, and Policies SP18 and SP19 of 
the Core Strategy. 
 

5.15. Significant weight should be attached to the Local Plan Policy ENV1 as it is broadly 
consistent with the aims of the NPPF.  However, less weight should be given to policy 
ENV25 as it does not accord with the approach taken within the NPPF in relation to 
the emphasis on significance and on weighing harm to significance against other 
considerations, depending on whether there is substantial harm or less than 
substantial harm. 
 

5.16. Relevant policies within the NPPF, which relate to development within a 
Conservation Area and the significance of the setting of the adjoining listed building, 
include paragraphs 189, 190, 191,192 193 and 194. 

 
5.17. Comments have been received from the Conservation Officer, who initially objected 

to the application due to insufficient information being provided. It is noted that 
concerns have been raised in respect of the changes of materials on site from grass to 
hardcore, the appearance of the amenity block and also the overall impact of 12 
caravans.  
 

5.18. Officers have requested additional information from the planning agent. The 
applicant has subsequently submitted additional information labelled ‘Heritage 
Statement’. 
 

5.19.  Further comments have been provided from the Conservation Officer, in summary 
these states that the additional information does not constitute a ‘Heritage Statement’ 
and does not adequately provided an assessment of impact. However, the 
Conservation Officer, concludes that while there will likely be a degree of harm to the 
setting of the Conservation Area from the change of use of the field in the manner 
proposed, but that this would be very low level of impact when considering the 
significance of the conservation area as a whole. 
 

5.20. Having carried out a site visit and noted the boundary treatments around the site 
including hedging and tall trees, it is not considered that the application site would be 
visible from public vantage points within the Conservation Area. It is however noted 
that, at present there may be some limited views from the rear gardens of some of the 
nearby properties within the Conservation Area and minimal views on the approach to 
the Conservation Area along Westfield Lane. Furthermore, the site is not visible from 
any of the nearby Listed Buildings. The woodland to the south of the site would block 
views from the closest Listed Building Thorganby House. 
 

5.21. In respect of any impacts on surrounding Listed Buildings, given there would be no 
views from these buildings to the site. There would be no harm to the Listed Buildings 
and their settings.   
 

Page 65



5.22. In respect of any impacts on the Thorganby Conservation Area given the limited 
views of the site. There would be less than substantial harm. Whilst it is noted that the 
harm is less than substantial this is still harm. At para 196 the NPPF states that ‘where 
a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposals.’ Therefore, Officers are required to weigh this against the public 
benefits. 
 

5.23. The proposal would provide some public benefits in contributing to local services. 
This includes the use of the local pub and also local bus services, ensuring the vitality 
of Thorganby village and its rural economy. This is also as noted within the neighbour 
support letters submitted. Therefore, Officers consider that the less than substantial 
harm is outweighed by the public benefits associated with the proposed use.  

 
5.24.  Therefore, having had regard to Policies ENV1(1), (4) and (5) and ENV25 of the 

Selby District Local Plan, and Policies SP18 and SP19 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF it is considered that the proposals are acceptable. 

 
Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 

 
5.25. The application site is located outside the defined development limits of Thorganby, 

as defined within the Core Strategy. The proposal involves change of use of land to 
create a 12-pitch touring caravan site together with, new shower and toilet facilities, 
new internal access track and associated works. 
 

5.26. Taking each criterion within Policy RT12 in turn. 
 

5.27. Criterion 1 relates to, whether the proposal would have a significant adverse effect 
on the character and open appearance of the countryside, or harm acknowledged 
nature conservation interests. 

 
5.28. The application site is an existing field surrounded by mostly open fields and some 

residential gardens and dwellings further to the east. To the north of the application 
site would be the highway, Westfield Lane. To the east of the application site would be 
an open field outside of the applicant’s ownership. To the south of the application site 
would be a field within the applicant’s ownership. To the west of the application site 
would be an open agricultural field. 
 

5.29. The third-party comments received raise concerns over the insufficient boundary 
treatment. These comments are noted, and it is therefore considered reasonable to 
secure a detailed scheme of landscaping by way of condition. This is to ensure that 
there is adequate screening and boundary treatments along the eastern boundary 
along common boundaries with neighboring properties. 
 

5.30. In respect of the touring caravans these would not have a permanent presence on 
site. Touring caravan sites are generally more actively used in spring and summer 
months so the site will remain vacant and open for longer periods, particularly the 
winter months. Furthermore, the caravan pitches are only likely to be occupied when 
the weather permits, meaning the site will be still relatively open for periods throughout 
the year specifically the winter months.  
 

5.31. In respect of the proposed amenity block on site, consisting of shower and toilet 
facilities. This would have a permanent on-site presence. The new well-designed pre-
fabricated amenity block, would be sited to the south east corner of the site. In 

Page 66



considering the scale, siting, and design of this block. It is considered proportionate to 
the proposals and would not create any significant adverse impacts on the open 
countryside. 

 
5.32. In respect of the proposed internal access track. This would be of porous materials 

and is considered to be proportionate and necessary to what is being proposed. The 
track is not considered to cause any undue harm to the open countryside. 
 

5.33. In respect of the cesspit, this would be located underground and would therefore 
have no impacts on the open countryside.  
 

5.34. Overall, the change of use of land for to form a 12-pitch touring caravan site 
including the siting of shower and toilet facilities, new internal access track and 
associated works. Would have some impacts on the character and appearance of the 
open countryside by way of the changes to the application site, the enlarged access to 
the site and vehicle movements along Westfield Lane. However, from an inspection of 
the site officers note that the application site is surround by a variety of existing 
boundary treatments, including fencing, hedges and mature trees. These existing 
boundary treatments provide screening to the site, particularly when viewed from 
Westfield Lane. Furthermore, given the density of the hedging and trees it is 
considered that this would still provide some screening in winter also, this is addressed 
further against criterion 3. 
 

5.35. Given the location of the application site and the existing boundary treatments it is 
not considered that the proposed caravan site would have a significant adverse effect 
on the character and open appearance of the countryside. 
 

5.36. Criterion 2 relates to, Whether the proposal is located within a locally important 
landscape area.  
 

5.37. The application site is not located within a locally important landscape area and 
therefore criterion 2 is not applicable.  
 

5.38. Criterion 3 relates to, Whether the proposal would not be visually intrusive and 
would be well screened by existing vegetation, or would incorporate a substantial 
amount of landscaping within and around the site. 

 
5.39. The application site is currently bound by tall hedging, trees and the highway, 

Westfield Lane to the north, hedging and residential development to the far east, post 
and rail fencing and woodland to the far south and a newly planted Hornbeam 
(Carpinus betulus) hedgerow with Dog Rose (Rosa canina) to the west as shown on 
the submitted plans and drawings.  
 

5.40. Officers also note that a Tree Protection Order is being considered for one of the 
Oak trees to the east of the entrance to the site. The tree in question is located on the 
neighbor’s land though this tree would have a root protection zone of approximately 9 
meters. Therefore, some of the roots for the tree would be located on the applicant’s 
land.  
 

5.41. In considering this comment have been sought from the landscape architect who 
has advised the following:  

 
• Existing boundary hedgerows and trees accurately plotted and showing as 

maintained to a minimum target height of 3m. 

Page 67



• Root protection areas to be provided (to BS5837). 
• A new hedgerow along the western boundary of the site.  
• Specified plant species, quantity, size together with notes for maintenance 

establishment. 
• Pitch hardstanding’s set at least 2m away from boundary hedgerows. 
• Visibility splay requirements to ensure the protection of the corner oak tree.  
• Permeable stone for drainage 
• Drainage outfalls through hedgerow to the ditch minimised to protect existing 

hedgerow. Show electricity supply and other service runs, to protect trees 
and hedgerow. 

 
5.42. Following discussions with the applicant the proposals have been amended to 

move the access west and away from the root protection zone of the tree. Therefore, 
no root protection or further details are required in respect of this specific oak tree. The 
gap in the hedge created by the existing access will be replanted.  Furthermore, the 
boundary treatments for the site have been accurately plotted on the site layout plan. 
The amendments to the proposals address all of the points raised by the landscape 
architect, which includes limiting the hard standing near the hedge adjacent to 
Westfield Lane.  
 

5.43. In considering seasonal changes, given the density of the hedging along with the 
likelihood that there will be less activity on site in the winter, it is not considered that 
seasonal change is of concern.  
 

5.44. Overall, it is considered acceptable to secure the boundary treatments via condition 
as well as condition the height the hedging along the northern boundary of the site to 3 
meters.    
 

5.45. Given all the above, the proposals are not considered to be visually intrusive and 
are well screened by existing boundary treatments including, fencing, hedges and 
mature trees. It is also noted that a furthermore detailed scheme of landscaping is to 
be required and secured by way of condition.  
 

5.46. Criterion 5 and 5 relate to highway matter and are to be addressed within the 
‘Impacts on Highway Safety’ section of the report.  
 

5.47. Criterion 6 relates to, whether any new ancillary buildings or structures are essential 
to providing basic services on the site. 
 

5.48. The proposed scheme is for the change of use of land and includes the provision of 
a free-standing amenity block. This includes toilet and washing facilities and is 
considered reasonably necessary for a functioning caravan site. Furthermore, the new 
pre-fabricated amenity block is considered to be of a limited size and scale and overall 
could therefore be considered essential to providing basic services on the site. 
 

5.49. Criterion 7 relates to, whether the number of pitches would be in proportion to the 
size of the locally resident population so as not to disrupt community life 
 

5.50. It is noted that the application site is located outside the defined development limits 
of Thorganby. However, the site is within close proximity to the village of Thorganby 
and it is therefore considered reasonable to weigh up the proportion of pitches 
proposed on site to the population of Thorganby.  
 

Page 68



5.51. The proposal is for 12 pitches; however it is acknowledged that it realistically 7 
additional pitches to the existing 5 that operate under the Caravan License currently. 
In total the site would have the ability to accommodate 12 groups at once. While 
Thorganby is a Secondary Village as defined within the Core Strategy, it is considered 
that the caravan pitches cumulatively would be proportionate to the population of 
Thorganby. 
 

5.52. Therefore, in considering the above it is considered that the proposal is acceptable 
and would not have a significant or detrimental impact on the character and 
appearance of the area. Therefore, having had regard to Policies ENV1(1), (4) and (5) 
and RT12 of the Selby District Local Plan, and Policies SP18 and SP19 of the Core 
Strategy and paragraphs 124, 127, 128, 130 and 131 of the NPPF. 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 

 
5.53. Relevant policies in respect to impact on residential amenity include Policies ENV1 

(1) and (4) and EMP9 of the Selby District Local Plan and Policy SP19 "Design 
Quality" of the Core Strategy. In respect of the NPPF it is noted that one of the Core 
Principles of the framework is to always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  
 

5.54. Any such leisure use has the potential to cause noise and disturbance through 
increased comings and goings and from occupants of the leisure site. Occupants of 
such facilities are more likely to spend time outside enjoying their leisure time and this 
often brings with it noise and nuisance if not properly controlled by the owner/site 
license.   
 

5.55. Given this is essentially a rural location with residential development to the far east. 
It is the most significant material consideration within this application.  In this case the 
site could accommodate a maximum of 12 families at any one time and is therefore 
regarded as small scale. 
 

5.56. The comments of the occupiers of the surrounding properties and the Thorganby 
Parish Council in relation to concerns for noise impacts are noted. However, given the 
existing use of the site for 5 caravans a scheme of this scale is not considered to 
significantly harm the amenity of neighbouring properties.  
 

5.57. The submitted Design and Access Statement, states that, as the applicants live 
close by and there is CCTV in place therefore the site is closely managed. The site is 
also described as an adults only site, so as to ensure limited impacts of noise. The 
applicants ownership and adults only restriction cannot be controlled by condition, 
however providing the situation remains this way these measures are therefore 
considered to reduce any impacts on the amenity of occupiers of any of the residential 
properties within proximity of the site. Though it is noted that the closest residential 
dwelling would be approximately 80 meters away.  
 

5.58. Also, from a review of the website the applicants appear to have a number of rules 
for the site as follows:  
 

• All prices above are for the 2 registered people, 1 caravan. 
• The maximum age for a caravan being used as a seasonal pitch is 10 years 

old. 
• A maximum of 2 dogs are allowed providing they are well controlled, kept on a 

lead and any fouling left by them is cleared up immediately. 

Page 69



• Day visitors are allowed on request but please consider your neighbouring 
caravans 

• No clothes lines are permitted. 
• There will be a noise policy in place and guests will be asked to keep noise to a 

minimum between 11pm and 8am. 
• No commercial vehicles allowed on the park at any time. 
• Nothing is permitted to be stored underneath the caravan: the area must be 

kept clear. 
• Gas bottles are not to be left outside your caravan. 
• Awnings are allowed without groundsheets. 

 
5.59. The scheme looks to small adult groups and not to cause any unnecessary pollution 

regarding, noise or environmental impact on the neighbourhood. 
 

5.60. Whilst the above measures cannot be considered as planning conditions, they will 
ensure the facility is small scale and run in such a way that the amenities of the 
adjoining neighbours are not affected. The running of the site is also regulated by the 
need for a site license which the Local Authority control and monitor.  

 
5.61. In respect of overlooking the site would be located some distance away from the 

surrounding residential properties. Furthermore, it is not considered that the change of 
use would pose any additional impacts of overlooking to the existing use, in terms of 
views from the land in question.  
 

5.62. In respect of overshadowing the proposed amenity block would be set some 
distance away from residential properties. Therefore, there are not considered to be 
any impacts of over shadowing.  
 

5.63. Further to this, in considering any impacts in terms of noise and impacts on the 
surrounding neighbouring properties. Environmental Health have been consulted on 
the application. In summary the Environmental Health Officer has raised no objections 
to the proposed development.  
 

5.64. Overall given the siting of the proposed scheme, the position of the access and 
distances from surrounding residential properties, it is considered that the proposal 
would not result in any adverse effects on the amenities of the occupiers of any 
neighbouring properties. 
 

5.65. Subject to the aforementioned condition, it is considered that the proposal is 
acceptable in terms of its impact on residential amenity in accordance with Policies 
ENV1 (1) and (4) and EMP9 of the Selby District Local Plan, Policy SP19 of the Core 
Strategy and the advice contained with the NPPF. 

 
Impact on Highway Safety 

 
5.66. Relevant policies in respect to highway safety include Policies ENV1, T1 and T2 of 

the Selby District Local Plan and requirement (c) set out in Policy SP19 of the Core 
Strategy. These policies should be afforded substantial weight as they are broadly 
consistent with the aims of the NPPF. 
 

5.67. The proposal would involve the closing of the existing access and the construction 
of a new access.  

 

Page 70



5.68. NYCC Highways have been consulted on the application. It is noted that NYCC 
Highways originally requested a condition requiring passing places to be constructed 
along Westfield Lane. However, following a site meeting with the applicant and NYCC 
Highways. It was concluded that, such a condition could not be met and would 
therefore be unreasonable.  
 

5.69. NYCC Highways latest comments raise no objections to the proposals subject to 
the following standard conditions: (1) New and altered Private Access or Verge 
Crossing at Westfield Lane, Thorganby (2) Visibility Splays at Westfield Lane, (3) 
Provision of Approved Access, Turning and Parking Areas. The highway improvement 
details have been detailed on the updated site layout plan and therefore this can be 
secured by way of condition 
 

5.70. From a site visit it is not considered that the proposed development would create 
conditions which would be of a detriment to highway safety subject to these 
improvements. It is also noted that the site is currently being used as a caravan site for 
up to 5 caravans. Officers consider that the site would have a good access to the 
primary road network and would not create conditions prejudicial to highway safety or 
which would have a significant adverse effect on local amenity. 
 

5.71. Overall, the proposal would not create conditions prejudicial to highway safety or 
which would have a significant adverse effect on local amenity. Given all of the above 
the proposals are considered acceptable in respect of highway safety. 
 

5.72. Overall, in respect of Policy RT12 of the Selby District Local Plan on balance the 
proposed development would be comply to criteria (4) and (5) of the policy and would 
be acceptable in respect of Local Plan Policy SP19 of the Core Strategy and policies 
contained within the NPPF. 

 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
5.73. Firstly, in addressing the issues of flood risk, the application site is within Flood 

Zone 1 and therefore at low risk of flooding. Therefore, despite being a more 
vulnerable use, no sequential or exceptions test are required. 
 

5.74. In terms of drainage, the submitted application form sets out that the foul water will 
be disposed of via cesspit and surface water will be disposed of via an existing water 
course. 
 

5.75. In respect of surface water discharge, it is noted that the Internal Drainage Board 
(IDB) have raised no objections to the proposed development. However, the IDB have 
advised that soakaways should be considered on site rather than directly discharging 
into existing water courses. Therefore, the IDB have suggested a condition requiring 
drainage details to be submitted and agreed. Having discussed this condition with the 
planning agent this condition is agreed. Therefore, it is considered reasonable to 
secure drainage details by way of condition. Further to this a number of standard 
informatives have been suggested as follows: (1) consent required from IDB, (2) 
consent outfall and (3) consent discharge.   
 

5.76. In respect of foul water discharge it is proposed to use a cesspit. This would require 
an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency, which would need to be 
obtained beyond the planning process.  
 

Page 71



5.77. It is noted that Yorkshire Water have not provided a response within the statutory 
consultation period. However, the foul and surface water drainage would not be 
discharged via any of the Yorkshire Water assets. Therefore, no response is required. 

 
5.78. It is noted that, limited information has been provided in terms of the scheme for 

drainage. However, it is considered that an acceptable scheme of drainage can be 
achieved. Therefore, not withstanding the information submitted further information 
can be requested and subsequent measures secured by way of condition. 
 

6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1. Having had regard to the development plan, all other relevant local and national policy 

consultation responses and all other material planning considerations, it is considered 
that the proposed development is acceptable in principle providing a leisure use within 
the open countryside which wiould help sustain local village facilities and attract 
tourism the area. The proposal would not have a detrimental effect on the character 
and appearance of the area, residential amenity of the occupants of neighbouring 
properties, highway safety or drainage and flooding. In terms of the adjacent heritage 
assets the proposal is considered to cause less than substantial harm and this is 
outweighed by the public benefits associated with the proposed use. 

 
6.2. The application is therefore in accordance with Policies, SP1, SP2, SP13, SP18 and 

SP19 of the Core Strategy and Policies ENV1, ENV 25, RT12 and T1 of the Local 
Plan. 

 
7. RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1. This application is recommended to be GRANTED subject to the following conditions 

and reasons: 
 

1. The development for which permission is hereby granted shall be begun within a 
period of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  
In order to comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
and drawings listed below: 
 
Location Plan – LOC 01 
Proposed Site Plan - DN-001 / D 
Amenity Block Floor Plan - DN-003 
Amenity Block Elevations - DN-004 
New Road and Pitch Construction – received 14th January 2020 
 
Reason:  
For the avoidance of doubt.  
 

3. The development must not be brought into use until the existing access to the site at 
Westfield Lane, Thorganby has been closed and the new access as shown on plan 
reference,  DN-001 / D has been set out and constructed in accordance with the 
‘Specification for Housing and Industrial Estate Roads and Private Street Works” 
published by the Local Highway Authority and the following requirements: 

Page 72



 
The existing access must be improved by installing 10 metres radius kerbs, to give a 
minimum carriageway width of 7.3 metres, and that part of the access road extending 
13 metres into the site must be constructed in accordance with Standard Detail 
number A1 or E2 (E2 specification will not require the radius kerbs) and the following 
requirements. 
 

a) Any gates or barriers must be erected a minimum distance of 13 metres back 
from the edge of the carriageway of the existing highway and must not be able to 
swing over the existing or proposed highway. 
 
b) Measures to enable vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear. 
 
c) Provision should be made to prevent surface water from the site/plot discharging 
onto the existing or proposed highway in accordance with the specification of the 
Local Highway Authority. 

 
All works must accord with the approved details.    
 
Reason:  
In accordance with policy T1 of the Selby District Local Plan and to ensure appropriate 
a satisfactory means of access to the site from the public highway in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

4. There must be no access or egress by any vehicles between the highway and the 
application site at Westfield Lane until splays are provided giving clear visibility of 45 
metres measured along both channel lines of the major road from a point measured 
2.4 metres down the centre line of the access road. In measuring the splays, the eye 
height must be 1.05 metres. Once created, these visibility splays must be maintained 
clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times. 

 
Reason:  
In accordance with policy T1 of the Selby District Local Plan and in the interests of 
highway safety. 

 
5. No part of the development must be brought into use until the access, parking, 

manoeuvring and turning areas for all users have been constructed in accordance with 
the details approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once created these 
areas must be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for their intended 
purpose at all times. 
 
Reason:  
In accordance with policy T1 of the Selby District Local Plan and in order to provide for 
appropriate on-site vehicle facilities in the interests of highway safety and the general 
amenity of the development. 
 

6. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until the Local 
Planning Authority has approved a Scheme for the provision of foul and surface water 
drainage works. The following criteria should be considered: 
 

• The suitability of soakaways, as a means of surface water disposal, should first 
be ascertained in accordance with BRE Digest 365 or other approved 
methodology. 

Page 73



• If soakaways are not feasible, then the IDB may consider a proposal to 
discharge surface water to a watercourse (directly or indirectly). 

• Discharge from “greenfield sites” taken as 1.4 lit/sec/ha (1:1yr storm). 
• Storage volume should accommodate a 1:30 yr event with no surface flooding 

and no overland discharge off the site in a 1:100yr event. 
• A 30% allowance for climate change should be included in all calculations. 
• A range of durations should be used to establish the worst-case scenario. 

 
Any such Scheme shall be implemented to the reasonable satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority before the development is brought into use. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure the development is provided with satisfactory means of drainage and to 
reduce the risk of flooding. 
 

7. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
landscaping as identified on plan reference, DN-001 / D. The boundary hedges and 
trees shall be maintained to a minimum height of 3 meters along the north and east 
boundaries and 2 meters along the west boundary.  

 
All trees, shrubs and bushes should be adequately maintained for the period of five 
years beginning with the date of completion of the scheme and during that period all 
losses should be made good as and when necessary. 
 
Reason: 
In order to ensure that the proposals are in keeping with the character and appearance 
of the area, to prevent any adverse overlooking of neighbouring properties and to 
comply with Policy ENV1 of the Selby District Local Plan.   
 

8. Notwithstanding plan reference, DN-001 / D within the first available planting season a 
hedge of a native species shall be planted in line with the existing hedge row along the 
northern boundary along location of the existing access to be close to a length of 7 
meters and maintained to a height of 3 meters.  

 
All trees, shrubs and bushes should be adequately maintained for the period of five 
years beginning with the date of completion of the scheme and during that period all 
losses should be made good as and when necessary. 
 
Reason: 
In order to ensure that the proposals are in keeping with the character and appearance 
of the area, to prevent any adverse overlooking of neighbouring properties and to 
comply with Policy ENV1 of the Selby District Local Plan.   
 

9. The site shall only be occupied by touring caravans, tents or motor homes and the 
number of pitches on the site at any one time shall not exceed 12. 
 
Reason: 
In order to ensure that the scale of the proposed use accords with its location, 
adjacent to residential properties and to ensure compliance with Policy RT12 of the 
Selby Local Plan. 
 

10. The site shall be occupied for holiday purposes only and no caravan, tent or motor 
home, shall be occupied on a permanent basis. Furthermore, a record of bookings 
shall be retained and made available upon request. 

Page 74



  
Reason: 
This condition is imposed in the interests of restricting the use of the accommodation 
to a temporary holiday use only.  The Council acknowledges that these sites fulfil an 
important social function by providing holiday accommodation.  It also acknowledges 
that tourism has an important part to play in the economy of the area and that these 
sites are important in this respect. However, these considerations must be set against 
policies SP2 of the Core Strategy which seek to restrict residential development in the 
open countryside. 
 

11. All service points, refuse collection points and the chemical toilet area shall be as 
those specified on submitted drawing Proposed Site Plan - DN-001 / B and no facilities 
shall be sited in other areas of the site without the prior written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  
In order to ensure that the proposals are in keeping with the character and appearance 
of the area, and to comply with Policy ENV1 of the Selby District Local Plan. 
 

12. The pitches shall be limited to those areas specified on submitted drawing Proposed 
Site Plan - DN-001 / D and no caravan, tents or motor home shall be sited in other 
areas of the site.  
 
Reason: 
In order to ensure that the scale of the proposed use accords with its location, 
adjacent to residential properties and to ensure compliance with Policy RT12 of the 
Selby Local Plan. 
 

13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified, it must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment 
must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason;  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
INFORMATIVE(S): 

 
1. HIGHWAYS:  

You are advised that a separate licence will be required from the Highway Authority in 
order to allow any works in the adopted highway to be carried out. The ‘Specification 
for Housing and Industrial Estate Roads and Private Street Works’ published by North 
Yorkshire County Council, the Highway Authority, is available at the County Council’s 
offices. The local office of the Highway Authority will also be pleased to provide the 
detailed constructional specification referred to in this condition. 
 

Page 75



Notwithstanding any valid planning permission for works to amend the existing 
highway, there must be no works in the existing highway until an Agreement under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 has been entered into between the Developer 
and North Yorkshire County Council as the Local Highway Authority. To carry out 
works within the highway without a formal Agreement in place is an offence. 
 

2. IDB: 
Any watercourse adjacent to this development is not maintained by the IDB. The 
responsibility for the continued maintenance of the watercourse and its banks rests 
ultimately with the riparian owners. 
 
Under the IDB Byelaws the written consent of the IDB is required prior to any discharge 
(directly or indirectly) into any watercourse within the IDB’S District. 

 
8. Legal Issues 
 
8.1.  Planning Acts 

 
This application has been determined in accordance with the relevant planning acts. 
 

8.2.  Human Rights Act 1998 
 

It is considered that a decision made in accordance with this recommendation 
would not result in any breach of convention rights. 

 
8.3.     Equality Act 2010 

 
This application has been determined with regard to the Council’s duties and 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. However, it is considered that the 
recommendation made in this report is proportionate taking into account the 
conflicting matters of the public and private interest so that there is no violation of 
those rights. 

 
9. Financial Issues 
 
9.1.  Financial issues are not material to the determination of this application. 
 
10.  Background Documents 

 
10.1. Planning Application file reference 2019/1216/COU and associated documents. 

 
Contact Officer:   
Rebecca Leggott (Senior Planning Officer) 
rleggott@selby.gov.uk  
 
Appendices: None 

Page 76

mailto:rleggott@selby.gov.uk


6.9m

LB

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 OS 100018656. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes 
for the period during which Selby District Council makes it available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties 
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS. 

±

1:1,250

APPLICATION SITE
15 Cochrane Street, Selby
2020/0773/FUL

Page 77

Agenda Item 5.4



This page is intentionally left blank



15, Cochrane Street, Selby, North Yorkshire, YO8 8DU

Block Plan shows area bounded by: 461855.01, 431192.9 461922.51, 431260.4 (at a scale of 1:500), OSGridRef: SE61883122.  The representation of a road, track or path is no evidence of a right of
way. The representation of features as lines is no evidence of a property boundary.

Produced on 20th Aug 2020 from the Ordnance Survey National Geographic Database and incorporating surveyed revision available at this date. Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the
prior permission of Ordnance Survey. © Crown copyright 2020.  Supplied by www.buyaplan.co.uk a licensed Ordnance Survey partner (100053143).  Unique plan reference: #00542212-EF7DF2

Ordnance Survey and the OS Symbol are registered trademarks of Ordnance Survey, the national mapping agency of Great Britain.  Buy A Plan logo, pdf design and the www.buyaplan.co.uk website
are Copyright © Pass Inc Ltd 2020

LAY02

Page 79

http://www.www.buyaplan.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report Reference Number: 2020/0773/FUL  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   Planning Committee 
Date:   11 November 2020 
Author:  Rebecca Leggott (Senior Planning Officer) 
Lead Officer: Ruth Hardingham (Planning Development Manager) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPLICATION 
NUMBER: 
 

2020/0773/FUL PARISH: Selby Town Council 

APPLICANT: Miss Rebecca 
Moore 

VALID DATE: 20th August 2020 
EXPIRY DATE: 15th October 2020 

 
PROPOSAL: Change of use of a C3 dwelling house to a mixed use for a 

Class C3 dwelling house and Class E(f) childminding business 
 

LOCATION: 15 Cochrane Street 
Selby 
YO8 8DU 
 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT 
 
This application has been brought before Planning Committee as Selby District Council 
are the owners of the residential dwelling. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Site and Context 
 
1.1. The application site is a residential dwelling, that is within a row of terrace properties 

within the defined development limits of Selby, which is a Principle Town as identified 
in the Core Strategy.  The application site is located within Flood Zone 1. 

 
1.2. The dwelling has its main vehicular access from Cochrane Street and benefits from a 

rear garden with a large, detached outbuilding. Furthermore, on street parking is 
available along Cochrane Street. 

 
The Proposal 

 
1.3. The proposal is for the change of use of a dwelling to mixed use for childminding 

business to operate from the property. 
 

Page 81



1.4. The proposed childminding business currently operates from the dwelling, and 
normally many small businesses do not require a change of use application to be 
submitted due to the numbers of children being under 6. Permission in this instance 
is required as the application plans to exceed this number of children on site.  Small 
businesses like this are prevalent across the UK and provide a much-needed 
facilities to provide daytime care for local parents in order that they can access work 
opportunities. 

 
1.5. Having discussed the proposals with the applicant, the intention is to gain consent for 

a maximum of eight children on site and one employee.  
 

Relevant Planning History 
 
1.6. There are no historical applications which are considered to be relevant to the 

determination of this application. 
 
2. CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY 
 
2.1. Selby Town Council - Selby Town Council have raised no objections to the 

proposed development subject to consultation with occupants of neighbouring 
properties and also Environmental Health Department at the Local District Council.  

 
2.2. NYCC Highways – NYCC Highways have raised no objections to the proposed 

development subject to a condition relating to a new and altered Private Access or 
Verge Crossing. 

 
2.3. Yorkshire Water – No response recieved.  

 
2.4. Selby Area Internal Drainage Board - The IDB have raised no objections to the 

proposed development subject to a number of standard informatives relating to 
soakaways, mains sewers, discharge into water courses, no obstructions within 7 
metres of a water course and works adjacent a main river.  

 
2.5. Environmental Health – Environmental Health have raised no objections to the 

proposed development. 
 

2.6. Neighbour Summary- The application has been advertised by site notice and 
neighbour notification letter resulting in 3 letters of support being received. In 
summary the comments support the following: 
 

• The applicant provides support for the self employed  
• This is for a local service that supports working families 
• Suitable location as there is low traffic volume and noise 
• The applicant offers fantastic care 
• This kind of childminders is needed by many parents 
• No noise issues (comment provided from an address at 214 Abbots Road, 

Selby) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



3. SITE CONSTRAINTS 
 

Constraints 
 
3.1. The application site is located within the defined development limits of Selby, which is 

a Principle Town as identified in the Core Strategy and is located within Flood Zone 
1. 

 
4. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states "if regard is 

to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made 
under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise". This is recognised in paragraph 
11 of the NPPF, with paragraph 12 stating that the framework does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making.  

 
4.2. The development plan for the Selby District comprises the Selby District Core 

Strategy Local Plan (adopted 22nd October 2013) and those policies in the Selby 
District Local Plan (adopted on 8 February 2005) which were saved by the direction 
of the Secretary of State and which have not been superseded by the Core Strategy. 

 
4.3. On 17 September 2019 the Council agreed to prepare a new Local Plan. The 

timetable set out in the updated Local Development Scheme envisages adoption of a 
new Local Plan in 2023. Consultation on issues and options has taken place early in 
2020. There are therefore no emerging policies at this stage so no weight can be 
attached to emerging local plan policies. 

 
4.4. The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) (NPPF) replaced the July 

2018 NPPF, first published in March 2012.  The NPPF does not change the status of 
an up to date development plan and where a planning application conflicts with such 
a plan, permission should not usually be granted unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise (paragraph 12).  This application has been considered against the 
2019 NPPF. 
 

4.5. Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines the 
 implementation of the Framework - 
 

4.6. “213….existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 
were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should 
be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given).” 

 
Selby District Core Strategy Local Plan 
 
4.7. The relevant Core Strategy Policies are: 
 

• SP1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
• SP2 – Spatial Development Strategy  
• SP13 – Scale and Distribution of Economic Growth  
• SP15 – Sustainable Development and Climate Change  
• SP18 – Protecting and Enhancing the Environment  

Page 83



• SP19 – Design Quality 
 

Selby District Local Plan 
 
4.8. The relevant Selby District Local Plan Policies are: 
 

• ENV1 – Control of Development  
• EMP2 – Location of Economic Development 
• EMP6 – Employment Development within Development Limits and Established 

Employment Areas 
• T1 – Development in Relation to the Highway Network 
• CS3 – Children’s Nurseries 
 

5. APPRAISAL 
 
5.1. The main issues to be taken into account when assessing this application are: 
 

• The Principle of the Development 
• Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
• Impact on Residential Amenity 
• Highway Issues 
• Flood Risk, Drainage and Climate Change 

 
The Principle of the Development 
 
5.2. The proposal is for the change of use of a dwelling to mixed use for childminding 

business to operate from the property and the following policies are considered to be 
relevant. 
 

5.3. Policy SP1 of the Core Strategy outlines that "when considering development 
proposals the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in 
favor of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework" and sets out how this will be undertaken. Policy SP1 is therefore 
consistent with the guidance in Paragraph 11 of the NPPF. 
 

5.4. Policy SP13 of the Core Strategy states that in rural areas, sustainable development 
which brings about sustainable economic growth through local employment 
opportunities or expansion of businesses and enterprise will be supported, including 
(amongst other things) the re-use of existing building and infrastructure and the 
development of well-designed new buildings. In all cases development should be 
sustainable and be appropriate in scale and type to its location, not harm the 
character of the area, and seek a good standard of amenity.   
 

5.5. EMP6 of the Selby Local Plan relates to Employment Development within 
Development Limits and Established Employment Areas and states that proposals 
within defined development limits will be permitted for new business development, 
including the change of use of land or premises subject to the following criteria: 

 
EMP6 (A) 

1) There is no significant adverse effect on existing businesses; 
 

2) The proposal would not create conditions prejudicial to highway safety or 
which would have a significant adverse effect on local amenity; and 

Page 84



 
3) The proposal would achieve a standard of design, materials and landscaping 

appropriate to the locality and would not have a significant adverse effect on 
the appearance or character of the surrounding area. 

 
EMP6 (B) 
 

1) The nature and scale of the proposal is appropriate to the locality; 
 

2) The proposals would not prejudice the future comprehensive development of 
land; and 

 
3) The proposal would not harm acknowledged nature conservation interests or 

result in the loss of open space of recreation or amenity value or which is 
intrinsically important to the character of the area. 
 

5.6. Policy CS3 of the Selby Local Plan states that proposals for the development of or 
change of use to a children’s nursery will be permitted subject to a number of criteria, 
this includes: 

 
1) The proposal would be situated within the defined development limits or within 

existing school or college sites; 
 

2) The proposal would not create conditions prejudicial to highway safety or which 
would have a significant adverse effect on local amenity; 

 
3) Adequate car parking, and an area for the setting down and collection of pupils 

off the highway is available, or the proposal is not situated close to a busy road 
junction or where peak hour loading restrictions are in operation; and 

 
4) Adequate outdoor space for children’s play is provided. 

 
5.7. The application site is located within the defined development limits of Selby and the 

proposal is for the change of use of a C3 dwelling house to a mixed use for a Class 
C3 dwelling house and Class E(f) childminding business. 
 

5.8. A Planning Statement has been submitted with the application, which includes some 
of the following details:  
 

• Work hours 07.00 until 18.00 all days of the week. 
• Area’s primarily to be used for childminding include downstairs facilities and 

garden area. 
• A maximum of 8 children and one member of staff on site at any one time. 

 
5.9. There is nothing within the NPPF to identify this type of development as being 

unsustainable or preclude in principle development of this type in this location. 
 

5.10. The proposals are considered acceptable in principle and in respect of Local Plan 
Policy EMP6 (1), (2) and CS3.  Where the proposed scheme may be acceptable in 
principle it would be required to meet the policy, tests set out in in Local Plan Policy 
EMP6 and CS3. 
 

5.11. The impact on acknowledged interests against the above policy tests is considered in 
the following parts of the report, including the issue of scale. 

Page 85



 
Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area  

 
5.12. Relevant policies in respect to the impact of development on character and 

appearance of the area are Policy ENV1 of the Selby District Local Plan, Policies 
SP13 (D), SP18 and SP19 of the Core Strategy and advice contained within the 
NPPF. Local Plan Policy ENV1 is broadly consistent with the aims of the NPPF and 
should therefore be given significant weight. 
 

5.13. The application site is located within a residential area and the dwelling is a mid-
terrace property. The proposed use, therefore, has the potential to impact on the 
character of the area through increased activity on site generated by vehicle 
movements and noise from children inside and outside of the property. Having 
discussed the proposals with the applicant it is considered reasonable to agree a 
maximum of two employees (1 being the homeowner and applicant) and eight 
children on site at any one time. This can be secured by way of condition and limits 
the proposals impact on the residential character of the area.  
 

5.14. The proposal also shows that the front garden area is to provide 2 off street parking 
spaces. Limited information has been submitted in this respect of. It is considered 
that it would be for the Local Highway Authority to determine the details of this, which 
is highlighted in the ‘Impacts on Highway Safety’ section of the report.  
 

5.15. Having carried out a site visit it is evident that a number of properties along Cochrane 
Street have also carried out works form dropped kerbs and parking to the front of 
their properties, which would constitute permitted development in accordance with 
Part 1, Class B of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order as amended.  
 

5.16. Overall, it is considered that the works to create a parking area to the front of the 
property are limited and would have not impacts on the character and appearance of 
the area. 
 

5.17. In considering the above Officers consider it reasonable to secure the use on site to 
use Class C3 and use Class E(f) only and remove permitted development rights for 
changes to any other use within Class E. This is to ensure the property is not used 
for any other use within Class E, which would be inappropriate within this residential 
setting.  

 
5.18. Having considered the scheme as a whole, the size, scale, siting, location and design 

of the proposed development, would be acceptable to its surroundings and would not 
have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area. The 
proposal therefore complies with Policy ENV1, EMP6 A(3), B(1) and (3) of the Selby 
District Local Plan, Policies SP13 (D), SP18 and SP19 of the Core Strategy and the 
NPPF. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 

 
5.19. Relevant policies in respect of the effect upon the amenity of adjoining occupiers 

include Policy ENV1 (1) of the Selby District Local Plan. Significant weight should be 
attached to this Policy as it is broadly consistent with the aims of the NPPF to ensure 
that a good standard of amenity is achieved. 
 

Page 86



5.20. The key considerations in respect of residential amenity are considered to be the 
potential of the proposal to result in overlooking of neighbouring properties, 
overshadowing of neighbouring properties and whether oppression would occur from 
the new development.  
 

5.21. It is also necessary to consider whether the use will cause harm by virtue of the noise 
from the children whilst playing outside and any potential issues rising from the mixed 
use of a dwelling house and childminders.  
 

5.22. The existing dwelling is a mid-terrace property that fronts the highway, Cochrane 
Street and benefits from a garden area to the rear.  
 

5.23. Given the existing use of the site as a C3 dwelling house it is not considered that the 
additional mixed use with a childminders would have any additional adverse impacts 
in respect of overlooking or overshadowing on the occupants of the neighboring 
properties.  
 

5.24. In considering any impacts in respect of noise, it is noted that the applicant has 
advised that working hours for the childminders business are 07.00 – 18.00 all days 
of the week. It is also noted that the planning statement details that the number of 
children on site is regulated by Ofsted and calculated via the available floor space of 
the dwelling and number of employees. In summary, childminders may only care for 
a maximum of six children under the age of eight per employee. Having discussed 
the proposals with the applicant the intention is to gain consent for a maximum of two 
employees and eight children on site at any one time.  
 

5.25. Having consulted the Environmental Health Team, the Environmental Health Officer 
has raised no objections to the proposals. 
 

5.26. From a review of all relevant information it is considered that there is adequate open 
space for the children to play outdoors.   
 

5.27. Officers consider that it would be reasonable to attach a number of conditions in 
order to control the intensity of the use and protect the residential amenity of 
neighbors. These conditions will relate to the following: 
 

• Number of children on site at any one time to be limited to eight. 
• Number of employees on site at any one time to be limited to two. 
• Working hours of the childminders limited to 07.00 – 18.00 Monday to Friday; 

08.00 – 13.00 Saturdays and not at all on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays.  
• Outdoor play limited to 09.00 – 18.00 Monday to Friday, 10.00 – 13.00 

Saturdays and not at all on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays.  
 
5.28. Subject to aforementioned conditions, it is considered that the proposals would not a 

have significant adverse effect upon adjoining residents in accordance with Policy 
ENV1, ENV2, EMP6 B(1) and CS3 (4) of the Selby District Local Plan.  
 
Impact on Highway Safety  
 

5.29. Relevant policies in respect to highway safety include Policies ENV1, T1 and T2 of 
the Selby District Local Plan and requirement (c) set out in Policy SP19 of the Core 
Strategy. These policies should be afforded substantial weight as they are broadly 
consistent with the aims of the NPPF. 
 

Page 87



5.30. The proposal also includes works to construct a dropped kerb along the north 
boundary to the site to create an access into the site from the highway, Cochrane 
Street, to a proposed area of parking at the front of the property to fit two cars. The 
works to drop the kerb, would not require permission given its not a classified road, 
however this will increase the off street parking from 1 to 2 spaces. 
 

5.31. NYCC Highways commented on the proposed development and have raised no 
objections subject to a condition relating to Private Access/Verge Crossings: 
Construction Requirements. The Highways Officer has also advised that an 
informative be attached stating that, a separate license will be required from the 
Highway Authority in order to allow any works in the adopted highway to be carried 
out.  
 

5.32. Overall, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in terms of highway safety 
and therefore comply with Policy EMP6 A(2) and CS3 (2) and (3) of the Selby District 
Local Plan and would be acceptable in respect of Local Plan Policy SP19 of the Core 
Strategy and policies contained within the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage   

 
5.33. Relevant policies in respect to flood risk include Policies SP15, SP19 of the Core 

Strategy, and paragraphs 149,150,155,156, 157, 158, 163 of the NPPF. 
 
5.34. Firstly, addressing the issues of flood risk, the application site is within Flood Zone 1 

which has a low probability of flooding. Given the application site is located within 
Flood Zone 1 and the proposals are not for a higher vulnerability classification than 
the existing use the Sequential Test and Exceptions Tests are not required.  
 

5.35. In terms of drainage, the surface water from the existing building which the change of 
use is for does not need further control. 
 

5.36. In considering the creation of the new parking area, given this area would front the 
highway and exceed 5 sq. meters this would be required to meet the following 
condition in order to be permitted development:  
 
“…either the hard surface is made of porous materials, or provision is made to direct 
run-off water from the hard surface to a permeable or porous area or surface within 
the curtilage of the dwellinghouse.” 

 
5.37. Yorkshire Water and the IDB have been consulted on the proposals and raised no 

objections. 
 

5.38. On the basis of the above the proposals are considered to be acceptable in terms of 
drainage, and flood risk and therefore accord with Policies SP15, SP16, SP19 of the 
Core Strategy, and paragraph 163 of the NPPF. 
 

6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.0 Having had regard to the development plan, all other relevant local and national 

policy, consultation responses and all other material planning considerations, it is 
considered that the proposed development would not have a detrimental effect on 
the character and appearance of the area, the residential amenity of the occupants 
of neighbouring properties, highway safety or flood risk. The application is therefore 
considered to be in compliance with Policies ENV1 and T1 of the Selby District 

Page 88



Local Plan, Policies SP1, SP2, SP15 and SP19 of the Core Strategy and the advice 
contained within the NPPF. 

 
7. RECOMMENDATION 

 
7.1 This application is recommended to be GRANTED subject to the following 

conditions: 
 
1. The development for which permission is hereby granted shall be begun within a 

period of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason:  
In order to comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
plans/drawings listed below: 
 

• LOC 01 - Location Plan 
• LAY 02 – Planning Layout 
• 03 – Existing Ground Floor Plan 

 
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

3. The development must not be brought into use until the access to the site at 15 
Cochrane Street, Selby has been set out and constructed in accordance with the 
“Specification for Housing and Industrial Estate Roads and Private Street Works” 
published by the Local Highway Authority and the following requirements: 
 
The crossing of the highway verge and/or footway must be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details and/or Standard Detail number E5 and the 
following requirements. 

 
• Any gates or barriers must not be able to swing over the existing or proposed 

highway. 
• Provision should be made to prevent surface water from the site/plot 

discharging onto the existing or proposed highway in accordance with the 
specification of the Local Highway Authority. 

 
All works must accord with the approved details. 

 
Reason: 
In accordance with policy T1 and T2 of the Selby Local Plan in the interests of 
highway safety and the general amenity of the area. 
 

4. The working hours in connection with the childminding E(f) use shall be limited to 
the following hours: 

 
• 07.00 – 18.00 Monday to Friday; 
• 08.00 – 13.00 Saturdays; and 
• Not at all on Sundays, Bank and Public holidays. 

 

Page 89



Reason:  
To protect the residential amenity of the area. 

 
5. The outdoor activities in connection with the childminding E(f) shall be limited to the 

following hours:  
 

• 09.00 – 18.00 Monday to Friday; 
• 10.00 – 13.00 Saturdays; and  
• Not at all on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays.09.00 and 18.00 

 
No external activities shall take place within the application site outside the 
specified times. 
  
Reason:  
To protect the amenity of the area, the environment and local residents from noise 
pollution. 

 
6. The number of employees and children on site in connection with the development 

hereby approved shall be limited as follows:  
 
- Employees: 2 
- Children: 8 
 

Reason:  
To protect the residential amenity of the area. 

 
7. The premises shall be used only for a mixed use for a Class C3 dwelling house and 

Class E(f) childminding business and for no other purpose (including any other 
purpose in Class E of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification). 

 
Reason:  
To protect the residential character of the area and the residential amenity of the 
area. 

 
INFORMATIVES: 

 
01.  INFORMATIVE: 
The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to 
identify various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal 
comprised sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. 
These were incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning 
condition. The Local Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement 
in Paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 

 
02.  HIGHWAYS: 
You are advised that a separate licence will be required from the Highway Authority 
in order to allow any works in the adopted highway to be carried out. The 
'Specification for Housing and Industrial Estate Roads and Private Street Works' 
published by North Yorkshire County Council, the Highway Authority, is available at 
the County Council's offices. The local office of the Highway Authority will also be 

Page 90



pleased to provide the detailed constructional specification referred to in this 
condition. 

 
Legal Issues 

 
8.1 Planning Acts 
 

This application has been determined in accordance with the relevant planning acts. 
 

8.2 Human Rights Act 1998 
 

It is considered that a decision made in accordance with this recommendation 
would not result in any breach of convention rights. 

 
8.3 Equality Act 2010 
 

This application has been determined with regard to the Council’s duties and 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. However it is considered that the 
recommendation made in this report is proportionate taking into account the 
conflicting matters of the public and private interest so that there is no violation of 
those rights. 

 
Financial Issues 

 
8.4.1 Financial issues are not material to the determination of this application. 
 
9. Background Documents 

 
 Planning Application file reference 2020/0773/FUL and associated documents. 

 
Contact Officer:   
Rebecca Leggott (Senior Planning Officer) 
rleggott@selby.gov.uk  

 
Appendices: None 

Page 91

mailto:rleggott@selby.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Play
Area

Green
Bowling

Play Area

Chapel Bridge

Recreation Ground

Allotment Gardens

Pavilion

26.5m

12.2m

25.6m

Station

Tennis Courts

Fairfield

Stonelea

Shenstone

Maple House

Ellerfield Cottage

Nursery 18.9m

The

Tank

White

House

Cottage

Ellerfield

Ambulance

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 OS 100018656. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes 
for the period during which Selby District Council makes it available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties 
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS. 

±

1:2,500

APPLICATION SITE
Fields Garden Centre, Tadcaster Road, Sherburn in Elmet
2020/0549/S73

Page 93

Agenda Item 5.5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
Report Reference Number: 2020/0549/S73  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   Planning Committee 
Date:   11 November 2020 
Author:  Gareth Stent (Principal Planning Officer) 
Lead Officer: Ruth Hardingham (Planning Development Manager) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPLICATION 
NUMBER: 

2020/0549/S73 PARISH: Sherburn In Elmet Parish 
Council 
 

APPLICANT: Mr M Bradley VALID DATE: 2nd June 2020 
EXPIRY DATE: 28th July 2020 

 
PROPOSAL: Section 73 application to vary condition 02 (opening hours) of 

approval 2019/0663/FUL Conversion of former glass house 
including recladding to provide extension to tea room 
extending covers to 66 in total, retention of terrace and its use 
as outdoor seating area/plant sales area, extension to existing 
car park to provide overflow and formation of children's play 
area granted on 16 April 2020 
 

LOCATION: Fields Garden Centre 
Tadcaster Road 
Sherburn In Elmet 
Leeds 
North Yorkshire 
LS25 6EJ 
 

RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE 
 
This application has been brought before Planning Committee due to the significant 
number of representations both in support and opposition to the application, which raise 
material planning considerations and that officers would otherwise determine the 
application contrary to some of these representations.  
 
1.  INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Site and Context 
 

1.1 The application site lies to the north of the main settlement of Sherburn and to the 
west of the main Tadcaster Road/Finkle Hill. The site is known as Fields Garden 

Page 95



Centre, which has had some recent investment following a planning permission 
granted in 2017 and relies on plant sales, gardening related products and the 
increasingly popular cafe/tearoom known as Fields Kitchen. The tearoom was 
recently extended into a former glass house via a retrospective permission 
2019/0663/FUL, which increased the number of covers from 44 to 66. The proposal 
to extend the tearoom in question was considered by the CEO at an Urgency 
Session on the 8th April 2020. The opening hours were originally intended to be 
varied within that application but were later removed from the proposal and the 
hours remained restricted to those granted in 2017 under (2017/0506/FUL) i.e. 
08:30 to 17:00 Mon-Sat and 09:00 to 17:00 Sundays and Bank Holidays. 
 

1.2 To the north are agricultural fields, to the south is a commercial premise (landscape 
contractor) and opposite the site access are a group of 5 residential dwellings on 
Ellerfield Lane and a tennis club.  Further to the south of the site is the main 
residential part of the Sherburn settlement.  

 
1.3 The application site itself consists of a series of single storey buildings, glass 

houses, extended 66 cover tea room/café with terrace, outside children’s play area, 
shop, storage buildings, outside storage of plants with car parking to the site 
frontage.  The buildings predominantly sit towards the southern part of the site, with 
the nursery grounds extending to the north.  The entrance to the site is wide and the 
frontage is landscaped.   

 
1.4 A dwelling known as ‘The White Cottage’ sits on the southern side of the entrance 

and occupies a roadside position. This dwelling was originally part of the nursery 
and is still owned by the applicant, however, is now occupied independently 
following the creation of a new access under application 2018/0146/FUL.   

   
1.5 The 2019 application arose as a result of an enforcement enquiry as various works 

were undertaken to the buildings to create an extension to the tearoom. The tea 
room was also holding events (small number of weddings and parties in 
summer/autumn 2019) outside of the 2017 planning permission use restriction (i.e. 
operating beyond 5pm) and other development occurred including the formation of 
a terrace, increased parking area and formation of a children’s play area. The 
extended tearoom, parking terrace and play area are all now lawful by virtue of 
application 2019/0663/FUL being granted. This current application therefore revisits 
the issue of opening hours, albeit on a reduced basis from the original 2019 
submission. 

 
 The Proposal 
 
1.6 The proposal is a Section 73 application to vary condition 02 (opening hours) of 

approval 2019/0663/FUL, which approved the conversion of former glass house 
including recladding to provide an extension to tea room extending covers to 66 in 
total, retention of terrace and its use as outdoor seating area/plant sales area, 
extension to existing car park to provide overflow and formation of children's play 
area granted on 16 April 2020. 

 
1.7 The opening hours on the original garden centre were uncontrolled, however in 

2017 the tearoom introduced more of a retail and tea room element to the site and 
the opening hours were restricted to:  

 
• 08:30 to 17:00 Mon-Sat and 09:00 to 17:00 Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

 

Page 96



 
1.8 The 2019 application planned on extending these hours until: Monday to Thursday 

0830-2100, Friday and Saturday 08.30 to 23.30 hours and Sunday and Bank 
holidays from 08.30 to 20.00 hours, however this was later omitted from the 
proposal.  

 
1.9  This current Section 73 seeks to vary the opening hours to: 
 

Proposed Hours 
 
 Monday  08:00 – 18:00 
 Tuesday  08:00 – 18:00 
 Wednesday 08:00 – 18:00 

Thursday 08:00 – 21:00 
Friday  08:00 – 21:00 
Saturday  08:00 – 21:00 
Sunday  09:00 – 17:00 

  
 Relevant Planning History 
 
1.10 The following historical applications are considered to be relevant to the 

determination of this application. The first list relates to the garden centre and the 
second bespoke to White Cottage. 

 
 Garden Centre 

 
o CO/1981/25551- Erection of Implement Store, White Cottage Nurseries, 

Approved 13-MAY-81. 
 

o 2017/1222/FUL - Proposed widening of part of existing internal access road, 
Fields Garden Centre- Approved 18-DEC-17. 

 
o 2017/0506/FUL - Erection of extensions to existing glass houses, change of 

use of one retail building to tearoom ancillary to the garden centre use, 
formation of a car park and erection of covered plant canopy, Approved: 22-
SEP-17. (Delegated). 

 
o 2017/1187/DOC - Discharge of condition 05 (landscaping and planting) of 

approval 2017/0506/FUL) - Approved 11-DEC-17 
 

o 2019/0663/FUL - Conversion of former glass house including recladding to 
provide extension to tea room extending covers to 66 in total, retention of 
terrace and its use as outdoor seating area/plant sales area, extension to 
existing car park to provide overflow and formation of children’s play area. 
Approved 16.4.2020. 

 
o 2020/0536/FULM - Erection of canopies between the shop and the tea room 

to form a covered display area; application of cladding to the greenhouse to 
the south of the shop and change of use of café to that of a mixed use 
comprising shop and café to allow the use of part of the floor area for retail of 
goods in a farm shop. Pending consideration. 

 
 

 

Page 97



 
2. CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY 
 
2.1 NYCC Highways – No objection.  
 
2.2 Yorkshire Water – No response received.  

 
2.3 Selby Area Internal Drainage Board – No response received. 
 
2.4 Environmental Health - The applicant seeks to extend current operating hours 

incorporating evenings throughout Thursday to Saturday to allow for use by local 
community groups. In the absence of further detail in this regard, in particular the 
associated noise sources, I would recommend that noise from fixed plant and 
amplified music is controlled to the extent that existing residential amenity is 
protected in accordance with the following conditions: 

 
1. In relation to noise from amplified music, LAeq (EN) shall not exceed LA90 (WEN) 

by more than 5dB, and the L10 (EN) shall not exceed L90 (WEN) by more than 5dB 
in any 1/3 octave band between 40 and 160Hz. NB entertainment noise level (EN) 
and representative background noise level without the entertainment noise (WEN), 
both representative of 1m from the façade of the noise-sensitive premises. 
 

2. The cumulative level of sound from all plant and equipment associated with the 
proposed development, when determined externally under free-field conditions, 
shall not exceed the representative background sound level at nearby sensitive 
receptors. All noise measurement/predictions and assessments made to determine 
compliance shall be made in accordance with British Standard 4142: 2014: 
Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound, and/or its 
subsequent amendments. 

 
2.5 Designing Out Crime Officer – No objections but noted the premises have a license 

to open later than being applied for i.e.  
 

Permitted under Premises Licence Mon to Sun 0900 – 2300.  
 
I would request that the applicant be made aware that in respect of planning, that 
the earlier closing time applied for in this application, if granted, would need to be 
adhered to, to prevent a breach of planning permission. 

 
2.6 Parish Council - No comment.   
 

Neighbour and 3rd Party representations  
 
2.7  The proposal was publicised by a site notice and direct neighbour notification of 

residents.  
 
2.8 A total of 11 objections were received from residents directly opposite the site and 

some from residents of Sherburn and outlying villages. Grounds of objection are; 
 

• This is yet a further application to change the hours which was withdrawn from 
previous submissions. This should be a fresh application not a variation of 
hours. Residents do not believe these changes to hours to benefit the garden 
centre but by stealth for private functions. It is also a staged approach to 
undertake private functions carrying out the owner’s original business plan. 

Page 98



 
• The change in opening hours will detrimentally affect our residential 

amenity as residents living opposite the site. Our principal living areas are 
directly opposite the garden centre and consequently would be negatively 
impacted by extended trading hours. Residents do not wish for disruption from 
Thursday through the weekends during evenings. 

 
• No other garden centre with tearoom facilities in the area operates outside 

normal trading hours. The current opening times, which allow for a 59-hour 
operating week, by any argument is enough hours to be able to serve the 
horticultural community. 

 
• Clearly tea rooms fulfil a particular purpose and to go beyond normal trading 

hours suggests that the owner is moving incrementally towards a significant 
change in the nature of the business. 
 

• The applicant previously showed a total disregard for planning regulations and 
impact on local residents by moving directly from garden centre to an evening 
events venue with late finishes, loud music, disco lights and the accompanying 
noise of car doors and headlights in our windows. 

 
• We have whole heartedly supported the Garden Centre for the last 17 years we 

have lived here and when Fields first opened appreciated the benefit of the Tea 
Room for customers. However, the Tea Room - Restaurant has been extended 
significantly, is now a main focus of the business and has been used as a 
venue/ evening events which is not appropriate and seriously affects residential 
amenity. 

 
• Residents have already experienced disruption with late night events through 

increased traffic, noise, loud music. Serving may stop at 9pm but customers will 
inevitably leave afterwards. Realistically this would mean disruption to us in front 
of our home for up to potentially 10pm at night, in fact - once all customers and 
staff have left from a meal or event. These suggested new opening hours are 
clearly not for the benefit selling plants. 

 
• The site lies within green belt and is a garden centre with a tearoom. There are 

plenty of other pubs, restaurants and community centres to service residents of 
Sherburn during evenings. 
 

• Residents deserve peace and quiet and have to live here and want to enjoy our 
gardens like all the other residents in peace. Finally, as we are in a rural part of 
the village, we are only a handful of residents. There will be therefore only a 
handful of objections - and clearly the Garden Centre can ask every customer to 
support them, but the number of supporters is simply not the point.  
 

• Music and noise will escalate between different events which will make it difficult 
to qualify, quantify and enforce with any tangible action. This cannot be left to 
enforcement officers as this would just result in an ongoing debate monitoring 
noise levels, whilst the business continues regardless. 

 
• The current hours were imposed to protect the residential amenity of the locality 

& to comply with SP19 of Selby Core Strategy & Policy ENV2 of the Local Plan.  
 

Page 99



• The Green Belt status of the car park would also be further encroached as cars 
would be parked there for longer periods. Whilst the car park extension was 
permitted, this was on the basis that there was a degree of openness when the 
property closed, and vehicles not parked there. The car park being used during 
the proposed time would be of a permanent nature which is contrary to Green 
Belt Policy. 

 
• The extended hours will cause destruction of the peace of our countryside. 

 
• The most important point to consider is that this is a garden centre with ancillary 

tearoom and not a property holding functions or events. This issue is one of 
residential amenity and should not be confused by public support from those 
who do not live opposite the site. 

 
2.9 A total of 40 letters of support were received from local residents, residents of 

outlying villages that have used the premises local businesses, Scout leaders, etc. 
The support is as follows: 

 
• I think it would be amazing for the community to have somewhere like this 

open for longer hours. There isn't anywhere else around here like this so I 
think the public would really appreciate it. 
 

• Fields Garden Centre has tried to be involved in the community, it's a great 
thing for the village, it's unique as there isn't anything like them around here 
and I fully support them being able to open into the evening so they can keep 
expanding and keep supporting their staff. 

 
• Opening later in the evenings will benefit the community and give the garden 

centre more opportunities and be a great place to go in an evening. 
 

• Fields Garden Centre &; kitchen is the only family friendly &; accessible cafe 
in Sherburn. Since it opened it has been a great addition to Sherburn and the 
surrounding area. I frequent Fields on average 3 times a week with different 
mum groups. It is great that the mums from other towns and villages can 
drive as there is so much parking, but also that it is walkable from most of the 
housing estates in Sherburn. We love the staff who are always so friendly &; 
welcoming &; always come over for a chat with us. 

 
• During lockdown, my husband & I have bought trees plants from the garden 

centre and it would be good if we could go after my husband has finished 
work for the day rather than on a busy weekend day. In my opinion, the 
extended opening hours would make it much better. 

 
• Fields Garden Centre is very accommodating family run business with 

friendly staff and high-quality food. The premises are creating economic 
growth, local jobs. 

 
• The extended opening hours would make it much better for working families 

to go after work and look around the plants or go to gardening workshops to 
learn more. 

 
• Fields Café provides us with a meeting place and several groups use it as it 

is only a short walk or cycle ride from the centre of the village. The café has 

Page 100



access facilities so everyone can use the facilities. There is also a children’s 
play area allowing young mums and families to meet up too.  

 
• wished it would stay open later so we could go for tea. Beneficial for those 

working long or late shifts. 
 

• The Fields Kitchen is an excellent place for a young family for a meal. There 
is ample parking in a safe and secure area, with easy access to clean and 
well sized baby changing facilities. The food is outstanding, and the play 
area and space they offer for young children, both indoors and outdoors, is a 
huge advantage. 

 
• The space is vital for the community and is used by local business for 

meeting spaces, local scout groups: there is nowhere that offers the same 
good quality food and safe, welcoming space for mothers and babies/small 
children.  

 
3 SITE CONSTRAINTS 
 
 Constraints 
 
3.1 The site lies within the Green Belt and a Locally Important Landscape Area. 
 
4 POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states "if regard 

is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise". This is recognised in 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF, with paragraph 12 stating that the framework does not 
change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision making.  
 

4.2 The development plan for the Selby District comprises the Selby District Core 
Strategy Local Plan (adopted 22nd October 2013) and those policies in the Selby 
District Local Plan (adopted on 8 February 2005) which were saved by the direction 
of the Secretary of State and which have not been superseded by the Core 
Strategy. 

 
4.3 On 17 September 2019 the Council agreed to prepare a new Local Plan. The 

timetable set out in the updated Local Development Scheme envisages adoption of 
a new Local Plan in 2023. Consultation on issues and options took place early in 
2020. There are therefore no emerging policies at this stage so no weight can be 
attached to emerging local plan policies. 

 
4.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) (NPPF) replaced the July 

2018 NPPF, first published in March 2012.  The NPPF does not change the status 
of an up to date development plan and where a planning application conflicts with 
such a plan, permission should not usually be granted unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise (paragraph 12). This application has been 
considered against the 2019 NPPF. 

 
4.5 Annex 1 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) outlines the 
 implementation of the Framework - 

Page 101



 
 “213...existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 

were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should 
be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 
weight that may be given).” 

 
 Selby District Core Strategy Local Plan 
 
4.6 The relevant Core Strategy Policies are: 
 
 SP1 -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 SP2 - Spatial Development Strategy      

SP3 -  Green Belt 
SP13 - Scale and Distribution of Economic Growth        

 
 Selby District Local Plan 
 
4.7 The relevant Selby District Local Plan Policies are: 
 
 ENV1 - Control of Development    

S3 -  Local Shops   
 
5 APPRAISAL 
 
5.1 The main issues to be taken into account when assessing this application are: 
  

• The nature of the application i.e. Section 73.  
• Impact on the character of the locality and Green Belt  
• Impact on Residential Amenity 

 
Section 73 

 
5.2 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 73 allows for applications to be 

made to undertake development without complying with conditions attached to such 
an approval. Paragraph (2) of Section 73 states “On such an application the local 
planning authority shall consider only the question of the conditions subject to which 
planning permission should be granted, and —  

 
a) if they decide that planning permission should be granted subject to conditions 

differing from those subject to which the previous permission was granted, or 
that it should be granted unconditionally, they shall grant planning permission 
accordingly, and  
 

b) if they decide that planning permission should be granted subject to the same 
conditions as those subject to which the previous permission was granted, they 
shall refuse the application.”  

 
5.2 Despite concern from local residents over the method of dealing with  this matter via 

a Section 73 as opposed to a full application, Officers consider that the nature of the 
use remains the same and therefore it is appropriate to deal with via Section 73. 
The extension of the proposed hours will not result in a material change of use. 

 

Page 102



5.3 As such the only consideration of this application is in relation to the conditions of 
the approval and the impact the proposed variation would have. Therefore key to 
the determination of this application is whether a new planning consent for the 
development, with the proposed variation of Condition 2 (opening hours) of planning 
permission reference 2019/0663/FUL, would be contrary to the provisions within the 
development plan or whether there are reasonable grounds for refusal if these 
conditions were retained in their present form. This means that only the extended 
opening hours are considered and the implications that arise from these.  

 
5.4 As explained in the introduction, the opening hours were originally restricted in the 

2017 approval (2017/0506/FUL) that granted a small tearoom that was to be used 
ancillary to the garden centre. The hours were considered ‘normal’ trading hours in 
that they were 8.30am-5pm Monday to Saturday and 9-5pm Sundays.  The tearoom 
would close when the garden centre closed.  This ensured the café was not a 
destination in its own right and remained ancillary to the garden centre. This current 
proposal does to some degree depart from that, being open for retail into the early 
evening, and its therefore necessary to assess the implications that arise from this. 

 
5.5 The applicants explained in the 2019 application, how the popularity of the café 

increased and was becoming a valued community asset where local groups took 
advantage of the relaxed environment. The owner facilitated this increase in 
business by undertaking an extension into the adjacent greenhouse together with 
some operational development works to create an extension to the café. The 
premises operated unlawfully for a short period in which some late-night events 
were catered for until this ceased as a result of enforcement investigations.  These 
complaints have not reoccurred, and it is believed that the owner is complying with 
the current 5pm opening times. 

 
5.6 Application 2019/0663/FUL as originally submitted was proposed to extend the 

opening hours until 23:00 for some nights of the week, however this was considered 
excessive and wasn’t supported by the Council’s Environmental Health team. 
Therefore, the opening hours element was withdrawn from that proposal. The 
2019/0663/FUL application was approved for the extension to the tearoom (66 
covers), car park, terrace and play area and the 2017 opening hours conditions 
were re-imposed.   

 
5.7 It was the applicant’s intention to review the opening hours and deal with these 

separately via this submission. This is commented on being a staged approach 
within the representations, however this is possible within the planning system.  The 
table below shows the proposed hours, versus the approved hours for comparison 
purposes.  

 
Proposed Hours v’s existing comparison. 

 
Day   Approved  Hrs Proposed Hrs Difference per 

day hrs 
Monday 8.30 – 17:00 8.5 08:00 – 18:00 10 1.5 
Tuesday 8.30 – 17:00 8.5 08:00 – 18:00 10 1.5 
Wednesday  8.30 – 17:00 8.5 08:00 – 18:00 10 1.5 
Thursday 8.30 – 17:00 8.5 08:00 – 21:00 13 4.5 
Friday 8.30 – 17:00 8.5 08:00 – 21:00 13 4.5 
Saturday 8.30 – 17:00 8.5 08:00 – 21:00 13 4.5 
Sunday 9:00 – 17:00 8 09:00 – 17:00   8 0 

Page 103



 Total  59 Total  77 18 
 
5.8 The table above demonstrates that the slightly earlier opening at 8am in a morning 

represents a 3-hour difference in a morning per week, which will be a marginal 
increase in the hours.  The Sunday hours will remain the same, therefore no new 
impact.  The largest increase in hours is after 5pm towards the latter end of the 
week i.e. Thursday - Saturday.  If approved the premises will be open an additional 
15 hours after 5 pm up until 9pm, 3 days per week. It is this element of the proposal 
where the impact is most relevant to consider. 

 
5.9 The tearoom was granted as an ancillary element to the garden centre and its 

popularity has clearly grown, which was facilitated by the extension into the 
adjoining greenhouse and increase in covers. It’s clear from the representations in 
support of the scheme that the premises are well used and likely to still function with 
the mainstay of footfall being horticultural related, however an increasing popularity 
for visitors which solely use the shop and café as a meeting point and food venue. 
This means the café has in part become a destination in its own right for some 
customers. This element of the business will benefit the most from the proposed 
hours as it will cater for evening dining. 

 
5.10 This is not uncommon across the UK where gardens centres have diversified their 

offer to remain in business. Customers increasingly tend to visit garden centres 
when they have an interest in gardening or to take advantage of the retail and café 
culture type services they offer. The success of Fields Garden centre in recent 
years has been stimulated by the café and retail offer and there is clear support 
from people who use the facility for it to open longer hours. 

 
 5.11 Through normal trading hours the café will remain an integral element of the 

business and the question has been raised over at what point does the café 
become the predominant use over the garden centre. For every hour that the café is 
open when a garden centre would ordinarily be closed, this strengthens the view 
that the café in these periods becomes the dominant use. The additional 30 minutes 
earlier opening is not considered to impact on this; however, the later evening 
openings does. The late evening openings is to facilitate local groups and clubs 
using the premises as a meeting point, and to enable the café to provide food later 
in the week when people tend to use such facilities more often.  The applicant also 
explained that this is also to cater for specific winter events like craft evenings, 
where normal working hours may need extending. This is noted; however, events 
will not be the mainstay of the business and people are unlikely to be shopping for 
plants in winter months particularly after 5pm. Nevertheless the café will remain 
open throughout the day and the additional hours in an evening do not dominate the 
use of the site as a whole, which is still primarily a garden centre with cafe that is 
open 7 days per week.  

 
5.12 Therefore the proposed 9pm closure for 3 nights per week will change the nature of 

the garden centre within that time period for the 12 hours per week. It is therefore 
necessary to assess the impact of the proposed 9pm closure.  

  
Impact on the character of the locality and Green Belt  

 
5.13  The application site is located within the Green Belt as such, national guidance 

contained within the NPPF paragraphs 143 - 146 and Policies SP2 A (d) and SP3 of 
the Core Strategy are relevant. It is however important to reiterate that the proposal 
is not considering a new development, rather the extension to an existing use.  

Page 104



Therefore, the appropriateness in Green Belt considerations remains the same, 
however the premises will be used more intensively, which can be assessed in 
terms of the impact on the Green Belt.  

 
5.14 Whilst the proposals involve no physical extensions to the premises, the extension 

of hours will inevitably increase the intensity of the use after 5pm. This means more 
customers coming and going over an extended period, more cars being parked at 
the premises for longer periods and the property being illuminated at night in winter 
months for longer periods. This will result in some impact on the Green Belt 
particular in terms of openness, in the period between 5pm and 9pm, 3 days a 
week.  

 
5.15 One of the fundamental aims of the Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl and 

keeping land permanently open. In terms of the car park, this element is approved 
and currently in use and therefore whilst cars will be parked on the site for longer, it 
is unlikely that the car park would be continually full after 5pm – 9pm.  The site is 
set back form the road, has some screening in summer months and in winter 
months the cars wouldn’t be overly visible as they would be parked under the cover 
of darkness.  

 
5.16 In terms of the increase vehicle traffic and associated comings and goings and 

illumination of the premises, again this is a commercial site within the Green Belt.  
The opening hours of the wider site is unrestricted and therefore to some degree 
people could still visit the site after 5pm but not use the café.  

 
5.17 Therefore, whilst the extension of the hours does have some impact on openness, it 

is not to a degree that would warrant a refusal in its own right given its already a 
commercial use within the Green Belt.  Any harm over and above what is already 
permitted would be limited to a 12-hour period (Thursday-Sat 5pm - 9pm).  The 
extension in the hours is therefore regarded as being compliant with the Section 13 
of the NPPF and Policy SP3 of the Core Strategy. 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 

 
5.18 One of the Core Principles of the NPPF is to always seek to ensure a good 

standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings is 
achieved. Policies ENV1 1) and S3(A) (6) of the Local Plan requires proposals not 
to have a significant adverse effect on residential amenity. 

 
5.19 The issue of residential amenity is perhaps the main issue to assess, as this has 

generated the most concern within the representations from the residential 
properties opposite the site.  The representations state that the amount of support 
for the proposal should not be confused by the impact the extension of hours will 
have on neighbouring dwellings. Officers note this and it was anticipated that 
support would be forthcoming, as it was in the 2019 submission as lots of people 
use the facility and wish to see it open for longer periods. It must be noted that the 
premises will continue to provide for the community and bring about all the benefits 
listed in the letters of support through daytime trading. The issue is therefore ‘will 
the extended hours cause sufficient harm to warrant refusal of the application’ 
taking into account the hours proposed, distance from residential properties and 
other factors. 

 
5.20 In terms of the distances involved, the actual distance between the buildings and 

frontages of the residential dwellings is over 100m. This is separated by a busy 

Page 105



main road running out of the settlement.  The distance is narrowed to 58m from the 
front of the car park to the frontages of the dwellings and 30 from the car park to the 
edge of the curtilage which faces the roadside.  The main use, however, will be 
contained within the building except for perhaps summer evenings where the 
terrace and children’s play area is used. This may cause some disturbance, 
however the proposed 9pm closure is less imposing and harmful to amenity than 
the previously applied for 11pm closing, which caused noise and disturbance to 
adjacent landowners. 9pm closing is a reasonable closing time and will not disturb 
sleep and is limited to 3 days per week.   

 
5.21 The proposed hours will also increase the ability of the premises to hold evening 

events like craft fairs and host local community groups, however they are less likely 
to be at the scale and type that previously generated the concerns i.e. weddings 
and birthday parties late into the evening. It’s likely the café will just remain open to 
members of the public up until 9pm, with the occasional function being held. 
Maintaining the 5pm closure would ultimately prevent this occurring; however, 
officers do not feel the impact of the proposed hours would be for the large part 
noticeable for the majority of evenings.  

 
5.22 The environmental health officer raised no objection to the increased hours based 

on an assessment of the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers. Two 
conditions were suggested the first relating to the control of amplified music so it 
doesn’t reach a certain decibel i.e. (LA90 (WEN) by more than 5dB, and the L10 
(EN) shall not exceed L90 (WEN) by more than 5dB in any 1/3 octave band 
between 40 and 160Hz).  The second relating to the cumulative level of sound from 
all plant and equipment associated with the proposed development. 

 
5.23 Therefore whilst the representations do raise valid concerns, officers do not 

consider the hours proposed would warrant refusal of the planning application. The 
proposal would accord with Policies ENV1 and S3A of Selby District Local Plan and 
Policies SP13 of Selby Core Strategy. 

 
 Conditions 
 
5.24 Given that the approval of a Section 73 application forms a new permission, it is 

necessary to assess the conditions previously imposed on the 2019 consent. 
Condition 1 concerns the list of approved plans and is reiterated. Condition 2 
concerns the new opening hours and will be amended to reflect the matters 
discussed in this report. It is important to note that the red line was for the whole 
site and the condition only controlled the tearoom and not the shop or wider 
premises.  Therefore, the condition is amended to control the opening of the entire 
premises in order that the site is open as a whole and controlled throughout the 
different uses on the site.  Condition 3 restricts the numbers of covers to 66 and is 
reiterated. Condition 4 requires the erection of a fence to the overflow car park 
which has now been completed. This is reworded to ensure it is retained for the 
lifetime of the development. Condition 5 that regulates the areas in which parking 
can occur is once again reiterated. Finally, the 2 additional conditions requested by 
the environmental health officer are included as 6 & 7.  

 
6 CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 The proposed extension to the opening hours will not involve a material change in 

the use of the premises and is capable of being determined under Section 73.  The 
extension of hours will cause some limited harm to the character and openness of 

Page 106



the Green Belt, given the use will be prolonged for part of the week into the 
evening.  This will be through cars using the car park, the illumination of the 
premises at night and more comings and goings to the site.  Whilst causing some 
harm, this is not regarded as having a significant impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt given it is already a commercial premises and the additional 12 hours in 
an evening doesn’t warrant refusal of the application.  The extra 30mins in a 
morning has no material impact.  

 
6.2 The proposal will also cause additional vehicle and customers movements to the 

site, which have the ability along with the evening use, to cause nuisance to the 
living conditions of nearby residents.  However due to a combination of the 
distances from neighbouring dwellings, the presence of the main road and the 
scaled back hours from those previously considered, on balance support is offered 
to the extension in the operating hours.  

 
6.3  The proposal will enhance the range of evening local facilities and will help maintain 

the viability of the business.  The proposal is therefore in accordance with policies 
SP1, SP2, SP3, SP13, of the Core Strategy and Local Plan Policies ENV 1 and S3. 

 
7 RECOMMENDATION 

 
This application is recommended to be Granted subject to the following conditions. 

 
01.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

plans/drawings listed below:  
 

Proposed Floor Plans - D- 201 A  
Proposed Block Plan - D-101 H  
Proposed Elevations - D - 401B  
Elevations swing/playhouse D-402  
 
Reason:  
For the avoidance of doubt.  
 

02. The premises which includes the tea room, shop and plant sales area shall not be 
open for customers except between the hours of: 

 
 Monday, Tuesday Wednesday   08:00 – 18:00 
 Thursday, Friday, Saturday  08:00 – 21:00 

Sunday and Bank and Public Holidays.   09:00 – 17:00 
 
Reason:  
To protect the residential amenity of the locality and in order to comply with Policy 
SP19 of Selby Core Strategy and Policy ENV2 of Selby District Local Plan.  

 
03.  The tea room hereby permitted shall not operate in excess of 66 covers at any one 

time.  
 
Reason:  
In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy ENV1 of Selby 
District Local Plan.  

 

Page 107



04.  The fence erected following the requirement of Condition 4 of 2019/0663/FUL as 
shown on the approved block plan D-101H, shall be retained for the lifetime of the 
development.  

 
Reason:  
In order to prevent cars from dispersing into the paddock area, which is considered 
harmful to the openness of the Green Belt and character of the wider area in 
accordance with Policy ENV1 of Selby District Local Plan and SP 3 of the Core 
Strategy.  
 

05. No parking of vehicles should occur on the land outside the designated parking 
area as shown on block plan D-101H.  

 
Reason:  
In order to prevent cars from dispersing into the paddock area, which is considered 
harmful to the openness of the Green Belt and character of the wider area in 
accordance with Policy ENV1 of Selby District Local Plan and SP 3 of the Core 
Strategy. 

 
06. In relation to noise from amplified music, LAeq (EN) shall not exceed LA90 (WEN) 

by more than 5dB, and the L10 (EN) shall not exceed L90 (WEN) by more than 5dB 
in any 1/3 octave band between 40 and 160Hz. NB entertainment noise level (EN) 
and representative background noise level without the entertainment noise (WEN), 
both representative of 1m from the façade of the noise-sensitive premises 

 
Reason:  
In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy ENV1 of Selby 
District Local Plan. 

 
07. The cumulative level of sound from all plant and equipment associated with the 

proposed development, when determined externally under free-field conditions, 
shall not exceed the representative background sound level at nearby sensitive 
receptors. All noise measurement/predictions and assessments made to determine 
compliance shall be made in accordance with British Standard 4142: 2014: 
Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound, and/or its 
subsequent amendments. 

 
Reason:  
In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy ENV1 of Selby 
District Local Plan. 

  
8 Legal Issues 
 
8.1 Planning Acts 
 

This application has been determined in accordance with the relevant planning acts. 
 

8.2 Human Rights Act 1998 
 
It is considered that a decision made in accordance with this recommendation 
would not result in any breach of convention rights. 

 
 
 

Page 108



8.3 Equality Act 2010 
 
This application has been determined with regard to the Council’s duties and 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. However, it is considered that the 
recommendation made in this report is proportionate taking into account the 
conflicting matters of the public and private interest so that there is no violation of 
those rights. 

 
9 Financial Issues 
 
 Financial issues are not material to the determination of this application. 
 
10 Background Documents 

 
 Planning Application file reference 2020/0549/S73 and associated documents. 

 
Contact Officer:  
Gareth Stent (Principal Planning Officer) 
gstent@selby.gov.uk  

  
Appendices: None 

Page 109

mailto:gstent@selby.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Glossary of Planning Terms 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): 

The Community Infrastructure Levy is a planning charge, introduced by the Planning 
Act 2008 as a tool for local authorities in England and Wales to help deliver 
infrastructure to support the development of their area. It came into force on 6 April 
2010 through the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. 

Curtilage: 

 The curtilage is defined as the area of land attached to a building. 

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA): 

Environmental impact assessment is the formal process used to predict the 
environmental consequences (positive or negative) of a plan, policy, program, or 
project prior to the decision to move forward with the proposed action. The 
requirements for, contents of and how a local planning should process an EIA is set 
out in the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2011. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

The National Planning Policy Framework was published on 27 March 2012 and sets 
out Government planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. 

Permitted Development (PD) Rights 

Permitted development rights allow householders and a wide range of other parties 
to improve and extend their homes/ businesses and land without the need to seek a 
specific planning permission where that would be out of proportion with the impact of 
works carried out. Many garages, conservatories and extensions to dwellings 
constitute permitted development. This depends on their size and relationship to the 
boundaries of the property.  

Previously Developed Land (PDL) 

Previously developed land is that which is or was occupied by a permanent structure 
(excluding agricultural or forestry buildings), and associated fixed surface 
infrastructure. The definition covers the curtilage of the development. Previously 
developed land may occur in both built-up and rural settings. 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

The Planning Practice Guidance sets out Government planning guidance on a range 
of topics. It is available on line and is frequently updated. 

Recreational Open Space (ROS) 

Open space, which includes all open space of public value, can take many forms, 
from formal sports pitches to open areas within a development, linear corridors and 
country parks. It can provide health and recreation benefits to people living and 
working nearby; have an ecological value and contribute to green infrastructure. 

Page 111

Annex



 

Section 106 Agreement 

Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism which make 
a development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not otherwise be 
acceptable.  They can be used to secure on-site and off-site affordable housing 
provision, recreational open space, health, highway improvements and community 
facilities. 

Site of Importance for Nature Conservation 

Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI), Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC) and regionally important geological sites (RIGS) are 
designations used by local authorities in England for sites of substantive local nature 
conservation and geological value. 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSI) 

Sites of special scientific interest (SSSIs) are protected by law to conserve their 
wildlife or geology. Natural England can identify and designate land as an SSSI. 
They are of national importance. 

Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM): 

Ancient monuments are structures of special historic interest or significance, and 
range from earthworks to ruins to buried remains. Many of them are scheduled as 
nationally important archaeological sites.  Applications for Scheduled Monument 
Consent (SMC) may be required by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport. It 
is an offence to damage a scheduled monument. 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Supplementary Planning Documents are non-statutory planning documents prepared 
by the Council in consultation with the local community, for example the Affordable 
Housing SPD, Developer Contributions SPD. 

Tree Preservation Order (TPO): 

A Tree Preservation Order is an order made by a local planning authority in England 
to protect specific trees, groups of trees or woodlands in the interests of amenity. An 
Order prohibits the cutting down, topping, lopping, uprooting, wilful damage, wilful 
destruction of trees without the local planning authority’s written consent. If consent is 
given, it can be subject to conditions which have to be followed. 

Village Design Statements (VDS) 

A VDS is a document that describes the distinctive characteristics of the locality, and 
provides design guidance to influence future development and improve the physical 
qualities of the area. 

 

Page 112



 

 

 

 

 

                

John Cattanach, Chair (C)   Mark Topping (C)   Keith Ellis (C)    John Mackman, Vice-Chair (C) Ian Chilvers (C) 

Cawood and Wistow   Derwent     Appleton Roebuck & Church Fenton  Monk Fryston                   Brayton 

01757 268968    mtopping@selby.gov.uk   01937 557111    01977 689221   01757 705308 

jcattanach@selby.gov.uk        kellis@selby.gov.uk    jmackman@selby.gov.uk   ichilvers@selby.gov.uk   

         

      

          1 VACANCY             

Don Mackay (I)             Robert Packham (L)  Paul Welch (L) 
Tadcaster              Sherburn in Elmet    Selby East  
01937 835776             01977 681954   07904 832671 
dbain-mackay@selby.gov.uk           rpackham@selby.gov.uk   pwelch@selby.gov.uk 
                     

 

J

o

h

n 

M

a

c

k

m

a

n 

(

C

) 

D

e

p

u

t

y 

L

e

a

d

e

r 

M

o

n

k 

F

r

y

s

t

o

n 

0

1

9

7

7 

6

8

9

Planning Committee 2020-21 

Tel: 01757 705101 

www.selby.gov.uk 

P
age 113

mailto:mtopping@selby.gov.uk
mailto:jcattanach@selby.gov.uk
mailto:kellis@selby.gov.uk
mailto:jmackman@selby.gov.uk
mailto:ichilvers@selby.gov.uk
mailto:dbain-mackay@selby.gov.uk
mailto:rpackham@selby.gov.uk
mailto:pwelch@selby.gov.uk


Substitute Councillors                 

 

            

Chris Pearson (C)   Richard Musgrave (C)   Tim Grogan (C)   David Buckle (C) 

 Hambleton   Appleton Roebuck & Church Fenton  South Milford   Sherburn in Elmet 

   01757 704202   07500 673610    tgrogan@selby.gov.uk   01977 681412 

 cpearson@selby.gov.uk  rmusgrave@selby.gov.uk        dbuckle@selby.gov.uk  

 

 

 

             
   John McCartney (I)  Keith Franks (L)   Steve Shaw-Wright (L)  Stephanie Duckett (L) 

   Whitley    Selby West   Selby East   Barlby Village 

   01977 625558   01757 708644   07711200346   01757 706809 

   jmccartney@selby.gov.uk  kfranks@selby.gov.uk    sshaw-wright@selby.gov.uk   sduckett@selby.gov.uk  

 

(C) – Conservative     (L) – Labour    (I) – Independent    

P
age 114

mailto:tgrogan@selby.gov.uk
mailto:cpearson@selby.gov.uk
mailto:rmusgrave@selby.gov.uk
mailto:dbuckle@selby.gov.uk
mailto:jmccartney@selby.gov.uk
mailto:kfranks@selby.gov.uk
mailto:sshaw-wright@selby.gov.uk
mailto:sduckett@selby.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	 
	5 Planning Applications Received
	5.1 2019/0639/COU - Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield, Selby
	Block Plan: 2019/0639/COU - Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield, Selby
	Report: 2019/0639/COU - Holmewood, York Road, North Duffield, Selby
	10 Background Documents


	5.2 2019/0945/FUL - Grove Farm, Sweeming Lane, Little Fenton, Leeds
	Block Plan: 2019/0945/FUL - Grove Farm, Sweeming Lane, Little Fenton, Leeds
	Sheets and Views
	2821-02-02C Proposed Block Plan A3


	Report: 2019/0945/FUL - Grove Farm, Sweeming Lane, Little Fenton, Leeds

	5.3 2019/1216/COU - Land Off Westfield Lane, Thorganby
	Block Plan: 2019/1216/COU - Land Off Westfield Lane, Thorganby
	Sheets and Views
	Site Plan - A4


	Report: 2019/1216/COU - Land Off Westfield Lane, Thorganby

	5.4 2020/0773/FUL - 15 Cochrane Street, Selby
	Block Plan: 2020/0773/FUL - 15 Cochrane Street, Selby
	Report: 2020/0773/FUL - 15 Cochrane Street, Selby

	5.5 2020/0549/S73 - Fields Garden Centre, Tadcaster Road, Sherburn In Elmet, Leeds
	Report: 2020/0549/S73 - Fields Garden Centre, Tadcaster Road, Sherburn In Elmet, Leeds
	10 Background Documents


	 
	Councillor Picture Guide 2020-21


